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08/10/2018 3 Arrest of Saman Ahsani in Eastern District of Virginia(Alexandria). (lgue, )
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08/10/2018 2 22 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge Ivan D. Davis:Initial
Appearance in Rule 5(c)(3) Proceedings as to Saman Ahsani held on 8/10/2018.
US appeared through: Dennis Kihm. Deft appeared with counsel: Racheal Talay.
Deft informed of rights, charges, and penalties. Deft waives all hearings in this
district. Gov't is not seeking detention. Deft placed on PR bond with conditions.
Deft instructed to report to PTS by noon on 8/11/2018 and report to the Southern
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08/10/2018 3 23 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Rachel Gagnebin Talay appearing
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1 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

v.

CYRUS ALLEN AHSANI, and
SAMAN AHSANI

§
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

CRIMINAL NO.  H-19-147

UNDER SEAL

PROPOSED ORDER

Based on the representations in the United States unopposed motion to seal 

the courtroom, seal documents, and delay entry on the public docket, this Court 

makes the following findings of fact: 

Specifically, at this time, 

public docketing of defendant’s arraignment, change of plea hearing, and any related 

proceedings, as well as any related pleadings, documents, and Orders, including the 

instant motion and proposed Order, will create a substantial likelihood of imminent 
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danger to the defendant and his family.  Such public docketing will also jeopardize 

the government’s ongoing criminal investigation, as well as the ongoing criminal 

investigations of foreign governments.

Based on the representations in the government’s motion, this Court finds that 

there is a compelling governmental interest in sealing the courtroom for the 

defendant’s arraignment and change of plea hearing, and sealing the Information, 

plea agreement, and related pleadings, documents, and Orders, including the instant 

motion and this Order.  The Court also finds there is an extraordinary situation that 

justifies a delay in the public docketing of the defendant’s arraignment, change of 

plea hearing, and related proceedings, as well as any related pleadings, documents, 

and Orders, including the instant motion and this Order.

Based on the above findings of fact, it is hereby

ORDERED that the courtroom be sealed for the defendant’s arraignment, 

change of plea hearing, and any related proceedings.

It is further ORDERED that the Information, plea agreement, and related 

pleadings, documents, and Orders, including the instant motion and this Order be 

filed under seal in the Clerk’s office until further order of this Court.

It is further ORDERED that entry on the public docket be delayed for the 

defendant’s arraignment, change of plea hearing, and any related proceedings, as 

well as for any related pleadings, documents, and Orders, including the instant 
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motion and this Order until further order of this Court. 

It is further ORDERED that notwithstanding the other provisions of this 

Order: 1) the government, at its request, may receive a transcript of the plea 

proceedings in this case; 2) the court reporter may be permitted to prepare such a 

transcript and provide it to the government; 3) there may be a limited lifting of this 

sealing Order to allow the government to comply with noticing and publishing 

requirements to effectuate any consent order of forfeiture that may be filed as part 

of this case, or to comply with its discovery, Giglio and Brady obligations in any 

pending criminal case in which the defendant herein may be called as a witness; 4) 

the government may disclose copies of defendant’s Information, plea agreement, 

any transcript of the change of plea proceedings, and this Order with foreign 

governments including, but not limited to, the United Kingdom, Australia, and Italy.

It is further ORDERED, that notwithstanding other provisions of this Order, 

without good cause shown after notice to the parties herein and an opportunity for a 

hearing, this matter shall be sealed until further order of the court.

Signed in Houston, Texas on _______________________________, 2019.

_________________________________
THE HONORABLE VANESSA GILMORE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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ELEMENTS:

     Conspiracy - Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

First: That the defendant and at least one other person made an    
  agreement to violate the FCPA as charged in the information; 

 Second: That the defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the 
agreement and joined in it willfully, that is, with the intent to further the unlawful 
purpose; and

Third: That one of the conspirators during the existence of the 
conspiracy knowingly committed at least one of the overt acts 
described in the information, in order to accomplish some object or 
purpose of the conspiracy.

     Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, Violation with Respect to Issuers – Title 
15, United States Code, Section 78dd-1 

First: the defendant is an “issuer,” or an officer, director, employee, 
or agent of an “issuer,” or a stockholder thereof acting on behalf of 
such an “issuer,” or aided and abetted an “issuer”1; 

Second: the defendant acted corruptly and willfully; 

Third: the defendant made use of the mails or any means or 
instrumentality of “interstate commerce” in furtherance of an unlawful 
act under this statute—namely, an offer, payment, promise to pay, or 
authorization of the payment of money or anything of value—or aided 
and abetted another to do the same; 

1 An “issuer” is defined to include any entity that has a “class of securities 
registered pursuant to section 78l . . . or . . . which is required to file reports under 
section 78o(d)” of Title 15 of the United States Code.  In general, these sections 
define securities that are regulated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission, and includes companies who issue securities on U.S. stock exchanges 
and which issue certain kinds of American Depository Receipts (commonly 
referred to as “ADRs”). 
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Fourth: the defendant offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized 
the payment of money or gift or anything of value; 

Fifth: the offer, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of 
money or anything of value was either (a) to a foreign official, or (b) 
to any person while the defendant knew that all or a portion of the 
payment would be offered, given, or promised, directly or indirectly, 
to a foreign official; 

Sixth: the payment was intended for one of three purposes relevant to 
this action: (a) to influence any act or decision of a foreign public 
official in his official capacity; (b) to induce a foreign official to do or 
omit to do any act in violation of the lawful duty of the foreign 
official; or (c) to secure any improper advantage; and 

Seventh: the payment was to assist the domestic concern in obtaining 
or retaining business for, or with, or directing business to, any person. 

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, Violation with Respect to Domestic 
Concerns – Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2 

First: the defendant is a “domestic concern,” or an officer, director, 
employee, or agent of a “domestic concern,” or a stockholder thereof 
acting on behalf of such a domestic concern, or aided and abetted a 
domestic concern2;

Second: the defendant acted corruptly and willfully; 

Third: the defendant made use of the mails or any means or 
instrumentality of “interstate commerce” in furtherance of an unlawful 
act under this statute—namely, an offer, payment, promise to pay, or 

2 A “domestic concern” is defined to include any individual who is a citizen, 
national, or resident of the United States; and any corporation, partnership, 
association, joint-stock company, business trust, unincorporated organization, or 
sole proprietorship which has its principal place of business in the United States, 
or which is organized under the laws of a State of the United States or a territory, 
possession, or commonwealth of the United States. 
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authorization of the payment of money or anything of value—or aided 
and abetted another to do the same; 

Fourth: the defendant offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized 
the payment of money or gift or anything of value; 

Fifth: the offer, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of 
money or anything of value was either (a) to a foreign official, or (b) 
to any person while the defendant knew that all or a portion of the 
payment would be offered, given, or promised, directly or indirectly, 
to a foreign official; 

Sixth: the payment was intended for one of three purposes: (a) to 
influence any act or decision of a foreign public official in his official 
capacity; (b) to induce a foreign official to do or omit to do any act in 
violation of the lawful duty of that foreign official; or (c) to secure 
any improper advantage; and 

Seventh: the payment was to assist the domestic concern in obtaining 
or retaining business for, or with, or directing business to, any person. 

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act with Respect to Persons – Title 15, 
United States Code, Section 78dd-3 

First: the defendant was a person, as defined in the FCPA, or an 
officer, director, employee, or agent of a foreign entity, who engaged 
in an act in furtherance of a corrupt payment (or offer, promise, or 
authorization to pay) while in the territory of the United States; 

Second: the defendant acted corruptly and willfully; 

Third: the defendant offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized the 
payment of money or gift or anything of value; 

Fourth: the offer, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of 
money or anything of value was either (a) to a foreign official, or (b) 
to any person while the defendant knew that all or a portion of the 
payment would be offered, given, or promised, directly or indirectly, 
to a foreign official; 
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Fifth: the payment was intended for one of three purposes: (a) to 
influence any act or decision of a foreign public official in his or her 
official capacity; (b) to induce such a foreign official to do or omit to 
do any act in violation of the lawful duty of such foreign official; or 
(c) to secure any improper advantage; and 

Sixth: the payment was to assist the defendant in obtaining or 
retaining business for, or with, or directing business to, any person. 

PENALTY: Up to 5 years imprisonment; 
Fine of not more than $250,000 or twice the gross gain or loss;  
Up to 3 years supervised release; and 
$100 special assessment. 
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Factual Basis for Guilty Plea 
(pages 12-21 in plea agreement) 

Defendant Saman Ahsani (“Defendant”) was a citizen of the United 

Kingdom and Iran. Defendant knew that paying a bribe to a foreign official, in order 

to secure an improper advantage in obtaining or retaining business, was a crime, 

including under the United States’ Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”).

“Intermediary Company” was a Monaco-based group of affiliated 

companies whose identities are known to Defendant, which maintained business 

operations through its various subsidiaries and affiliates in multiple countries, 

including in Algeria, Angola, Azerbaijan, Iraq, Kazakhstan, Libya, the United 

Arab Emirates, and elsewhere. Intermediary Company provided services, 

including  intermediary  services,  for  various  multinational  companies  

(“Client Companies”) operating in the energy sector, including companies that 

were headquartered or doing business in the Southern District of Texas, that were 

“issuers,” “domestic concerns,” or “persons,” as those terms are defined by the 

FCPA,  15  U.S.C.  §§  78dd-1(a);  78dd-2(a),  (h)(1);  and  78dd-3(a),  

(f)(1).  In providing services to the Client Companies, Intermediary Company, 

its subsidiaries and affiliates, and its executives and employees, including 

Defendant, acted as “agents” of the Client Companies.

Companies 1-25, whose identities are known to Defendant, were among the 
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Client Companies. “Company 1,” “Company 2,” “Company 3,” “Company 4,” the  

parent company of “Company 5,” “Company 6,” “Company 21,” and “Company  

24” were “issuers” as that term is used in the FCPA. “Company 22” and“Company  

23” were “domestic concerns” as that term is used in the FCPA. “Company  4,”   

“Company  7,”  “Company  8,”  “Company  9,”  “Company 10,”

“Company 11,” “Company 12,” “Company 13,” “Company 14,” “Company 15,”

“Company 16,” “Company 17,” “Company 18,” “Company 19,” “Company 20,” 

and “Company 25” were “persons” as that term is used in the FCPA. Company 1, 

Company 3, Company 4, Company 6, Company 22 were all headquartered in the 

Southern District of Texas.

“Due Diligence Organization,” was an anti-bribery organization 

headquartered in the United States whose identity is known to Defendant.

Beginning in or around 2003, Defendant became an employee of 

Intermediary Company. In or around 2005 Defendant became Intermediary 

Company’s Commercial Director and Libya Territory Manager, a position he held 

until at least 2011. In or around 2011, Defendant became Intermediary 

Company’s Chief Operations Officer (“COO”), a position he held until at least 

2016. Beginning by at least in or around 1994 and continuing until at least in or 

around    2016,    Defendant’s    brother    and    co-defendant,    Cyrus      
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Ahsani  (“Co-Defendant”), was Intermediary Company’sChief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”). 

In or before 2005, Defendant became aware of a conspiracy between and 

among Intermediary Company and certain of its executives and employees, 

including Co-Defendant, certain Client Companies, certain executives and 

employees of Client Companies, and others, the purpose of which was to enrich 

themselves, Intermediary Company, certain Client Companies, and others, by, 

among other things, making corrupt bribe and kickback payments to foreign 

officials, so that Intermediary Company and certain Client Companies would obtain 

and retain lucrative business contracts; to launder the proceeds of the corrupt 

bribery and kickback schemes in order to promote and conceal the ongoing 

schemes; and to falsify and destroy records to avoid detection and prosecution by 

law enforcement in the United States and elsewhere.

In or around 2005, Defendant knowingly and willfully joined the 

conspiracy, aware of its objects and with the intent to advance the conspiracy. 

Thereafter, Defendant, Co-Defendant, and others undertook certain acts, in the 

Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, in furtherance of the conspiracy, which 

generally included:

(a) communicating  in  person, by  email, telephone, and  fax  machine, the  

need agreement, and manner of bribing foreign officials; 
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(b) obtaining, using, disseminating, and discussing the contents of confidential 

bidding and other inside information from within foreign governments, 

agencies, and instrumentalities, in order to obtain improper advantages and 

lucrative contract awards for Intermediary Company and its Client Companies;

(c) soliciting energy, engineering, and construction companies operating in the 

energy sector to retain Intermediary Company’s services by describing their 

“proximity” to foreign officials, and their ability to obtain inside confidential 

bidding information; 

(d) using code words, maintaining multiple versions of books and records within 

Intermediary Company, and structuring bribe and kickback payments through 

multiple affiliates and subsidiary companies of Intermediary Company in order 

to promote and conceal the ongoing bribery and kickback scheme from 

detection by law enforcement and others; 

(e) engaging in “bid-rigging” between certain of the Client Companies and others 

and paying “kickbacks” to employees of certain of the Client Companies and 

others;

(f) maintaining original and copies of certain incriminating documents offsite in 

other locations than Intermediary Company’s office location in Monaco or their 

residences, in order to conceal their discovery by law enforcement and others; 
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(g) destroying certain original and copies of incriminating documents, including 

destroying flash drives and paper records, in order to conceal their discovery 

by law enforcement and others; and 

(h) making false and misleading statements and omissions, including in wire 

communications, to Due Diligence Organization in order to obtain certain 

compliance certifications that were used to circumvent certain Client 

Companies’ compliance functions and to facilitate business transactions with 

them. 

Defendant, as Commercial Director and Libya Territory Manager, and later 

COO, personally managed and oversaw certain portions of the conspiracy, 

including, but not limited to:

(a) between in or around and between 2005 and 2011, overseeing Intermediary 

Company’s business in Libya, including facilitating the payment of bribes to 

government officials in Libya, on behalf of Company 10, Company 11, 

Company 12, Company 23, Company 24, and others;

(b) between in or around and between 2005 and 2016, structuring the payment 

of bribes to foreign officials in order to launder the proceeds of the corrupt 

bribery and kickback schemes in order to promote and conceal the ongoing

schemes, including moving corrupt payments through multiple bank 
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accounts owned and controlled by Intermediary Company’s various 

subsidiary and affiliated companies, moving money through accounts 

located in multiple foreign countries, and timing the payments to disguise 

their true nature;

(c) between in or around and between 2005 and 2016, falsifying and destroying 

records of the bribery and money laundering schemes, including maintaining 

a second set of books for Company 7; and

(d) between in or around and between 2006 and 2016, overseeing 

communication with Due Diligence Organization, which included providing 

Due Diligence Organization with false information indicating Intermediary 

Company was not involved in the payment of bribes, and providing Due 

Diligence Organization with business references who Defendant believed 

knew or should have known about Intermediary Company’s bribe payments, 

or who Defendant believed received commercial kickbacks from 

Intermediary Company.

In addition, Defendant undertook the following overt acts, among others, 

in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere:

On   or   about   August   17,   2005,   Defendant   and  others  
including Co-Defendant, caused Intermediary Company to transfer approximately 

$136,500 from an Intermediary Company bank account in Switzerland to a bank 
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account in the United States, believing at least a portion of the funds would be used 

to pay a bribe to a foreign official to help Company 7 obtain and retain business in 

Kazakhstan.

On or about May 24, 2006, Defendant and others, including Co-Defendant, 

caused Intermediary Company to enter into an “Agency Agreement” with 

Company 10, which authorized Intermediary Company to assist in negotiating with 

the Libyan government and securing the award of a design and construction project 

in Libya.

On or about February 16, 2007, Defendant and others, including Co-

Defendant, caused Intermediary Company to transfer approximately $191,400 

from an Intermediary Company bank account in Switzerland, through a 

correspondent bank account in the United States, on to a bank account in the United 

Kingdom, with the intention that a portion of the funds would be used to pay a bribe 

to a foreign official on behalf of and for the benefit of Company 6.

In or around June 2009, Defendants and others, including Co-Defendant, 

caused a corrupt payment of approximately $250,000 to be made to a relative of 

“Libya Official 1,” a Libyan government official whose identity is known to

Defendant, for Company 10.

On or about January 18, 2011, Defendant signed a “Sales Consultant 

Agreement” on behalf of Intermediary Company agreeing to pay CC-7, a business 
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partner whose identity is known to Defendant, approximately $16 million in order 

to obtain a project in Iraq for Company 8, intending that portions of such payments 

would be used to bribe government officials in Iraq.

On or about July 11, 2011, Defendants and others, including Co-Defendant, 

generated a spreadsheet designed to identify certain areas of possible criminal 

exposure. This spreadsheet identified bribes and other corrupt payments made on 

behalf  of  Company  3,  Company  6,  Company  7,  Company  8,  

Company   10,

Company 11, Company 13, Company 14, Company 15, Company 17, Company 18,

Company 19, Company 20, and Company 22, among others.

On or about August 18, 2011, while in the United States, Defendant and 

CC-3, a business partner of Intermediary Company whose identity is known to 

Defendant, spoke by telephone with Co-Defendant concerning making a payment 

to CC-7 related to a project with Company 8.

On or about October 25, 2012, Defendant and others, including Co-

Defendant, caused Intermediary Company to transfer approximately $70,000 from 

an Intermediary Company bank account in the United Arab Emirates, through

a correspondent bank account in the United States, on to a bank account of a shell 

company that a Company 2 executive had told Co-Defendant to pay in connection 

with a project in Algeria. Defendant made such payment to promote the ongoing 
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bribery scheme and the payment was designed, in whole or in part, to conceal or 

disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the proceeds of the 

bribery scheme.

On or about December 6, 2013, Defendant and others conspired to send an 

email to a U.S.-based employee of Due Diligence Organization, through interstate 

and international wires, with the following materially false statement: “I certify that 

to the best of my knowledge, neither [Intermediary Company] nor any of its 

employees or third parties acting on its behalf have offered or given anything of 

value to a government official in order to obtain or retain business or receive an 

improper business advantage.”

On or about September 4, 2014, Defendant signed a “Memorandum of 

Understanding” with Company 25, a privately owned maintenance company 

headquartered in Monaco, whose identity is known to Defendant, on behalf of 

Intermediary Company, in which the parties agreed to establish a joint venture and 

jointly bid for a maintenance management services project in Iraq. Defendant 

signed   this   “Memorandum   of   Understanding”   intending   that  

Intermediary Company would pay bribes to Iraqi government officials in order to 

obtain the contemplated maintenance management services project.

In or around April 2016, while knowing about the existence of ongoing 

criminal investigations into the bribes that were paid by Intermediary Company, 
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Defendant and others, including Co-Defendant destroyed electronic and paper 

records containing evidence of the bribery and money laundering schemes in 

order to conceal and evade detection by United States law enforcement and others.

Company would pay bribes to Iraqi government officials in order to obtain the 

contemplated maintenance management services project.

In or around April 2016, while knowing about the existence of ongoing 

criminal investigations into the bribes that were paid by Intermediary Company, 

Defendant and others, including Co-Defendant destroyed electronic and paper 

records containing evidence of the bribery and money laundering schemes in 

order to conceal and evade detection by United States law enforcement and others.

/s/Suzanne Elmilady 
        Suzanne Elmilady 
        Assistant U.S. Attorney 
        1000 Louisiana Suite 2300 
        Houston, Texas 77002 
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ELEMENTS:

     Conspiracy - Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

First: That the defendant and at least one other person made an    
  agreement to violate the FCPA as charged in the information; 

 Second: That the defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the 
agreement and joined in it willfully, that is, with the intent to further the unlawful 
purpose; and

Third: That one of the conspirators during the existence of the 
conspiracy knowingly committed at least one of the overt acts 
described in the information, in order to accomplish some object or 
purpose of the conspiracy.

     Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, Violation with Respect to Issuers – Title 15, 
United States Code, Section 78dd-1 

First: the defendant is an “issuer,” or an officer, director, employee, 
or agent of an “issuer,” or a stockholder thereof acting on behalf of 
such an “issuer,” or aided and abetted an “issuer”1; 

Second: the defendant acted corruptly and willfully; 

Third: the defendant made use of the mails or any means or 
instrumentality of “interstate commerce” in furtherance of an unlawful 
act under this statute—namely, an offer, payment, promise to pay, or 
authorization of the payment of money or anything of value—or aided 
and abetted another to do the same; 

                                                      
1 An “issuer” is defined to include any entity that has a “class of securities 
registered pursuant to section 78l . . . or . . . which is required to file reports under 
section 78o(d)” of Title 15 of the United States Code.  In general, these sections 
define securities that are regulated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission, and includes companies who issue securities on U.S. stock exchanges 
and which issue certain kinds of American Depository Receipts (commonly 
referred to as “ADRs”). 
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Fourth: the defendant offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized 
the payment of money or gift or anything of value; 

Fifth: the offer, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of 
money or anything of value was either (a) to a foreign official, or (b) 
to any person while the defendant knew that all or a portion of the 
payment would be offered, given, or promised, directly or indirectly, 
to a foreign official; 

Sixth: the payment was intended for one of three purposes relevant to 
this action: (a) to influence any act or decision of a foreign public 
official in his official capacity; (b) to induce a foreign official to do or 
omit to do any act in violation of the lawful duty of the foreign 
official; or (c) to secure any improper advantage; and 

Seventh: the payment was to assist the domestic concern in obtaining 
or retaining business for, or with, or directing business to, any person. 

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, Violation with Respect to Domestic 
Concerns – Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2 

First: the defendant is a “domestic concern,” or an officer, director, 
employee, or agent of a “domestic concern,” or a stockholder thereof 
acting on behalf of such a domestic concern, or aided and abetted a 
domestic concern2;

Second: the defendant acted corruptly and willfully; 

Third: the defendant made use of the mails or any means or 
instrumentality of “interstate commerce” in furtherance of an unlawful 
act under this statute—namely, an offer, payment, promise to pay, or 
authorization of the payment of money or anything of value—or aided 

                                                      
2 A “domestic concern” is defined to include any individual who is a citizen, 
national, or resident of the United States; and any corporation, partnership, 
association, joint-stock company, business trust, unincorporated organization, or 
sole proprietorship which has its principal place of business in the United States, 
or which is organized under the laws of a State of the United States or a territory, 
possession, or commonwealth of the United States. 
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and abetted another to do the same; 

Fourth: the defendant offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized 
the payment of money or gift or anything of value; 

Fifth: the offer, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of 
money or anything of value was either (a) to a foreign official, or (b) 
to any person while the defendant knew that all or a portion of the 
payment would be offered, given, or promised, directly or indirectly, 
to a foreign official; 

Sixth: the payment was intended for one of three purposes: (a) to 
influence any act or decision of a foreign public official in his official 
capacity; (b) to induce a foreign official to do or omit to do any act in 
violation of the lawful duty of that foreign official; or (c) to secure 
any improper advantage; and 

Seventh: the payment was to assist the domestic concern in obtaining 
or retaining business for, or with, or directing business to, any person. 

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act with Respect to Persons – Title 15, 
United States Code, Section 78dd-3 

First: the defendant was a person, as defined in the FCPA, or an 
officer, director, employee, or agent of a foreign entity, who engaged 
in an act in furtherance of a corrupt payment (or offer, promise, or 
authorization to pay) while in the territory of the United States; 

Second: the defendant acted corruptly and willfully; 

Third: the defendant offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized the 
payment of money or gift or anything of value; 

Fourth: the offer, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of 
money or anything of value was either (a) to a foreign official, or (b) 
to any person while the defendant knew that all or a portion of the 
payment would be offered, given, or promised, directly or indirectly, 
to a foreign official; 
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Fifth: the payment was intended for one of three purposes: (a) to 
influence any act or decision of a foreign public official in his or her 
official capacity; (b) to induce such a foreign official to do or omit to 
do any act in violation of the lawful duty of such foreign official; or 
(c) to secure any improper advantage; and 

Sixth: the payment was to assist the defendant in obtaining or 
retaining business for, or with, or directing business to, any person. 

PENALTY: Up to 5 years imprisonment; 
Fine of not more than $250,000 or twice the gross gain or loss;
Up to 3 years supervised release; and 
$100 special assessment. 
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Factual Basis for Guilty Plea 
(pages 12-21 in plea agreement) 

Defendant  Cyrus Allen Ahsani (“Defendant”) was a citizen  of the     

United Kingdom and Iran, and, until on or about July 1, 2011, a citizen of the United 

States. Defendant knew that paying a bribe to a foreign official, in order to secure 

an improper advantage in obtaining or retaining business, was a crime, including 

under the United States’ Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”).

“Intermediary Company” was a Monaco-based group of affiliated 

companies whose identities are known to Defendant, which maintained business 

operations through its various subsidiaries and affiliates in multiple countries, 

including in Algeria, Angola, Azerbaijan, Iraq, Kazakhstan, Libya, the United 

Arab Emirates, and elsewhere. Intermediary Company provided services, 

including intermediary services, for various multinational companies (“Client 

Companies”) operating in the energy sector, including companies that were 

headquartered or doing business in the Southern District of Texas, that were 

“issuers,” “domestic concerns,” or “persons,” as those terms are defined by the 

FCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1(a); 78dd-2(a), (h)(1); and 78dd-3(a), (f)(1). In 

providing services to the Client Companies, Intermediary Company, its 

subsidiaries and affiliates, and its executives and employees, including 

Defendant, acted as “agents” of the Client Companies. 

Companies 1-25, whose identities are known to Defendant, were among 
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the Client Companies.   “Company 1,” “Company 2,” “Company 3,” “Company    

4,”

the parent company of “Company 5,” “Company 6,” “Company 21,” and 

“Company 24” were “issuers” as that term is used in the FCPA. “Company 22” 

and “Company 23” were “domestic concerns” as that term is used in the FCPA. 

“Company  4,”  “Company  7,”  “Company  8,”  “Company  9,”  “Company   10,”

“Company 11,” “Company 12,” “Company 13,” “Company 14,” “Company   15,”

“Company 16,” “Company 17,” “Company 18,” “Company 19,” “Company 20,” 

and “Company 25” were “persons” as that term is used in the FCPA. Company 1, 

Company 3, Company 4, Company 6, Company 22 were all headquartered in the 

Southern District of Texas.

“Due Diligence Organization,” was an anti-bribery organization 

headquartered in the United States whose identity is known to Defendant.

In or around 1991, Defendant became an executive at Intermediary 

Company. In or around 1994, Defendant became the Chief Executive Officer 

(“CEO”) of Intermediary Company, a position he held until at least 2016.

Beginning in or around 2003, Defendant’s brother and co-defendant, Saman 

Ahsani (“Co-Defendant”), became an employee of Intermediary Company. In or 

around 2005, Co-Defendant became Intermediary Company’s Commercial 

Director and Libya Territory Manager, a position he held until at least 2011. In or 
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around 2011, Co-Defendant became Intermediary Company’s Chief     Operations

Officer (“COO”), a position he held until at least 2016.

Beginning in or around 1999, and continuing until at least in or about 2016, 

in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, Defendant knowingly and willfully 

conspired with others, including Intermediary Company and certain of its 

executives and employees, certain Client Companies, certain executives and 

employees of Client Companies, and others, the purpose of which was to enrich 

themselves, Intermediary Company, certain Client Companies, and others, by, 

among other things, making corrupt bribe and kickback payments to foreign 

officials, so that Intermediary Company and certain Client Companies would obtain 

and retain lucrative business contracts; to launder the proceeds of the corrupt 

bribery and kickback schemes in order to promote and conceal the ongoing 

schemes; and to falsify and destroy records to avoid detection and prosecution by 

law enforcement in the United States and elsewhere.

Thereafter, Defendant and others (including by in or around 2005, Co-

Defendant) undertook certain acts, in the Southern District of Texas and 

elsewhere, in furtherance of the conspiracy, which generally included:

(a) communicating in person, by email, telephone, and fax machine, the need, 

agreement, and manner of bribing foreign officials;

(b) obtaining, using, disseminating, and discussing the     contents of confidential 
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idding and other inside information from within foreign governments, 

agencies, and instrumentalities, in order to obtain improper advantages and 

lucrative contract awards for Intermediary Company and its Client Companies;

(c) soliciting energy, engineering, and construction companies operating in the 

energy sector to retain Intermediary Company’s services by describing their 

“proximity” to foreign officials, and their ability to obtain inside confidential 

bidding information; 

(d) using code words, maintaining multiple versions of books and records within 

Intermediary Company, and structuring bribe and kickback payments through 

multiple affiliates and subsidiary companies of Intermediary Company in order 

to promote and conceal the ongoing bribery and kickback scheme from 

detection by law enforcement and others; 

(e) engaging in “bid-rigging” between certain of the Client Companies and others 

and paying “kickbacks” to employees of certain of the Client Companies and 

others;

(f) maintaining original and copies of certain incriminating documents offsite in 

other locations than Intermediary Company’s office location in Monaco or their 

residences, in order to conceal their discovery by law enforcement and others; 

(g) destroying certain original and copies of incriminating documents,  including  

destroying flash drives and paper records, in order to conceal their discovery by
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law enforcement and others; and 

(h) making false and misleading statements and omissions, including in wire 

communications, to Due Diligence Organization in order to obtain certain 

compliance certifications that were used to circumvent certain Client 

Companies’ compliance functions and to facilitate business transactions with 

them. 

Defendant, as CEO, personally managed and oversaw certain portions of 

the conspiracy, including, but not limited to:

(a) Between in or around and between 1999 and 2016, personally negotiating 

bribe payments executives and employees of the Client Companies and 

others, and with foreign officials and their agents;

(b) Between in or around and between 1999 and 2016, overseeing Intermediary 

Company employees and executives, who themselves negotiated bribe 

payments with foreign officials and their agents;

(c) Between in or around and between 1999 and 2016, directing others, including 

Co-Defendant, to launder the proceeds of the bribe payments; and

(d) Between in or around and between 2011 and 2016, falsifying and destroying 

records of the bribery and money laundering scheme to avoid detection   by

law enforcement and others.
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In addition, Defendant undertook the following overt acts, among others, in 

the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere:

On or about March 30, 2005, Defendant, while in Houston, Texas, in the 

Southern District of Texas, sent an email, through interstate and international wire, 

to “CC-2,” an employee of Intermediary Company and whose identity is known to 

Defendant, in which Defendant discussed a meeting in Houston, Texas, in the 

Southern District of Texas, with executives at Company 3 and Company 4. In the 

email Defendant used a codename to refer to a foreign official who Defendant knew 

to be a bribe recipient.

On or about February 16, 2007, Defendant and others, including Co- 

Defendant, caused Intermediary Company to transfer approximately $191,400 from 

an Intermediary Company bank account in Switzerland, through a correspondent 

bank account in the United States, on to a bank account in the United Kingdom, 

with the intention that a portion of the funds would be used to pay a bribe to a 

foreign official on behalf of and for the benefit of Company 6.

On or about August 25, 2010, Defendant, Co-Defendant, and others, caused 

Intermediary Company to enter into a consultancy agreement with a company 

controlled by CC-7, a business partner whose identity is known to Defendant,  

which included paying CC-7 approximately $4.5 million for, among other things, 
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assisting Company 8 in obtaining Iraq Project 1A, an oil and gas development 

project in Iraq that is known to Defendant. Defendant caused this contract to be 

executed believing that CC-7 would use portions of the $4.5 million to pay bribes 

to government officials in Iraq in order to obtain or retain Iraq Project 1A for 

Company 8.

On or about August 18, 2011, Defendant spoke by phone with Co-Defendant 

and CC-3, a business partner of Intermediary Company whose identity is known to 

Defendant, while Co-Defendant and CC-3 were in the United States, concerning 

making a payment to CC-7 related to a project with Company 8.

On or about January 3, 2012, Defendant signed a “Commercial Advisor 

Agreement” on behalf of Intermediary Company with two subsidiaries of Rolls- 

Royce plc, including their wholly owned United States-based subsidiary, Rolls- 

Royce Energy Systems, Inc. (“RRESI”), a “domestic concern” as defined in the 

FCPA. The terms of the Commercial Advisor Agreement appointed Intermediary 

Company to be RRESI’s commercial agent in Iraq, for the purposes of marketing 

RRESI products. Defendant signed this contract intending that Intermediary 

Company would pay bribes to Iraqi government officials in its attempts to obtain 

business on behalf of RRESI in Iraq.

On or about October 25, 2012, Defendant and others, including Co- 

Defendant, caused Intermediary Company to transfer approximately $70,000 from 
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an Intermediary Company bank account in the United Arab Emirates, through a 

correspondent bank account in the United States, on to a bank account of a shell 

company that a Company 2 executive had told Defendant to pay in connection with 

a project in Algeria. Defendant made such payment to promote the ongoing bribery 

scheme and the payment was designed, in whole or in part, to conceal or disguise 

the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the proceeds of the bribery 

scheme.

On or about January 14, 2015, Defendant and others, including Co- 

Defendant, caused the execution of a “Master Agreement” with Company 25 for 

a maintenance management services project in Iraq, intending that Intermediary 

Company would pay bribes to Iraqi government officials in order to obtain the 

contemplated maintenance management services project.

In or around April 2016, while knowing about the existence of ongoing 

criminal investigations into the bribes that were paid by Intermediary Company, 

Defendant and others, including Co-Defendant destroyed electronic and paper 

records containing evidence of the bribery and money laundering schemes in order 

to conceal and evade detection by United States law enforcement and others.

        /s/Suzanne Elmilady 
        Suzanne Elmilady 
        Assistant U.S. Attorney 
        1000 Louisiana Suite 2300 
        Houston, Texas 77002 
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ENTERED
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA § 
§ 

v. § CRIMINAL NO. 19-147
§ 

CYRUS ALLEN AHSANI, and § UNDER SEAL
SAMAN AHSANI,  § 

Defendants.  

UNOPPOSED MOTION TO CONTINUE SENTENCING

TO THE HONORABLE VANESSA GILMORE: 

The United States, by and through Ryan K. Patrick, United States Attorney, 

and Robert Zink, Chief of the Fraud Section of the Criminal Division of the United 

States Department of Justice, and Suzanne Elmilady, Assistant United States 

Attorney, and Dennis R. Kihm, Trial Attorney, hereby submits its Unopposed 

Motion to Continue Sentencing.

1. Defendants, Cyrus Ahsani and Saman Ahsani, pleaded guilty to

conspiracy to commit violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) on

March 25, 2019, pursuant to a plea agreement with the United States.  

2.
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2 
 

.

3. Defendants are both released on bond.

4.

5.

6.
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7.

8.

9. Therefore, the United States seeks a continuance of defendants’ 

sentencing until after August of 2020, at a time most convenient for the Court.

10. The United States has conferred with U.S. Probation and counsel for 

the defendants, and they have indicated they are unopposed to a continuance.
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THEREFORE, the United States respectfully requests that this Unopposed

Motion to Continue Sentencing be granted.

          RYAN K. PATRICK
United States Attorney
Southern District of Texas

BY: /s/ Suzanne Elmilady
SUZANNE ELMILADY
Assistant United States Attorney
1000 Louisiana, Suite 2300
Houston, Texas 77002
713-567-9574 (ph)

     ROBERT ZINK
Chief, Fraud Section
Criminal Division

     Department of Justice

BY: /s/ Dennis Kihm
DENNIS R. KIHM
GERALD M. MOODY, JR.
Trial Attorneys
1400 New York Ave, NW
Washington, DC 20005
202-616-2999
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CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE

                     On March 5, 2020, the United States conferred with defense 

counsel, Rachel Talay, regarding this motion and she is unopposed to this 

motion for continuance and its filing.  

/s/Suzanne Elmilady
/s/Suzanne Elmilady
Suzanne Elmilady
Assistant U.S. Attorney

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

                       On March 5, 2020, the United States filed this Unopposed

Motion for Continuance under seal and provided a copy to U.S. Probation and 

defense counsel, Rachel Talay.  

/s/Suzanne Elmilady
/s/Suzanne Elmilady
Suzanne Elmilady
Assistant U.S. Attorney
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 EXCEPTIONAL REPORTING SERVICES, INC 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 
 

 
 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) CASE NOs:  4:18-MJ-00974 
      )    4:18-MJ-00625 
   Plaintiff, )          
      )         CRIMINAL 

vs.     )          
      )      Houston, Texas 
SAMAN AHSANI,    )    Wednesday, August 22, 2018 

  ) (10:06 a.m. to 10:14 a.m.) 
   Defendant. ) ( 1:58 p.m. to  2:04 p.m.) 
 

S E A L E D 
 

INITIAL APPEARANCE 
 
 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE FRANCES H. STACY, 
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

 
 
APPEARANCES: 
 
For Plaintiff:   SUZANNE ELMILADY, ESQ. 
     U.S. Attorney's Office 
     1000 Louisiana, Suite 2300 
     Houston, TX 77002 
 
For Defendant:   RACHEL G. TALAY, ESQ. 

H Street Law, PLLC 
1616 H. Street, N.W., 10th Floor 
Washington, DC 20006 

 
Case Manager:   Beverly White 
 
Court Recorder [ECRO]:  Suzanne Guevara 
 
Transcribed By:  Exceptional Reporting Services, Inc. 
     P.O. Box 8365 
     Corpus Christi, Texas 78468 
     361 949-2988 
 
Proceedings recorded by electronic sound recording; 
transcript produced by transcription service. 
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 EXCEPTIONAL REPORTING SERVICES, INC 

2 

Houston, Texas; Wednesday, August 22, 2018; 10:06 a.m.   1 

(Call to Order) 2 

(Proceeding Ordered Sealed) 3 

THE COURT:  Okay.  This next case is sealed.  It's 4 

Case Number 18-974-M; U.S. versus Saman Ahsani.   5 

The Government requests the courtroom be closed for 6 

this hearing.  That motion is granted.   7 

So anybody present is an officer of the Court, an 8 

employee of the Court, or people that Ms. Elmilady brought with 9 

her who are involved with this case. 10 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor. 11 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So what would you like me to do?   12 

MS. ELMILADY:  Well, we're just going to -- he's 13 

already been arraigned.  He did his initial appearance in the 14 

Eastern District of Virginia. 15 

THE COURT:  That's Mr. Ahsani?   16 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor.  He's here this 17 

morning. 18 

THE CLERK:  He was arraigned; not a complaint? 19 

MS. ELMILADY:  Uh-huh -- or, no.  Initial. 20 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Is he present? 21 

MS. ELMILADY:  He is, your Honor. 22 

THE COURT:  Mr. Ahsani, can you approach the bench, 23 

please? 24 

And who is his lawyer?  Does he have a lawyer? 25 
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3 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes.  She's here as well, your Honor. 1 

THE COURT:  Please approach the bench. 2 

MS. ELMILADY:  And I'm here this morning with Tina 3 

Ansari for the Government.   4 

THE WITNESS:  Good morning, Judge. 5 

THE COURT:  That's fine.  All right.  So this is not 6 

an initial appearance then?  7 

He already had an initial appearance? 8 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes.  It's a Rule 5 appearance, I 9 

believe.  Is that -- 10 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So you already appeared in Court 11 

in another district? 12 

Where was that?   13 

THE DEFENDANT:  Alexandria, Virginia. 14 

THE COURT:  Where? 15 

MS. TALAY:  Eastern District of Virginia. 16 

THE COURT:  Okay.  What's the name of the town? 17 

THE DEFENDANT:  Alexandria. 18 

THE COURT:  Alexandria, okay. 19 

MS. ELMILADY:  I believe the lawyer has a motion 20 

before the Court in order to appear this morning; a pro hac 21 

vice order. 22 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And what is your name? 23 

MS. TALAY:  Rachel Talay. 24 

THE COURT:  Okay.  You are retained?  You've been 25 
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4 

retained? 1 

MS. TALAY:  By Mr. Ahsani, yes. 2 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Very good. 3 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor.  And I have my motion to 4 

be admitted. 5 

THE COURT:  Let me see that, please. 6 

Okay.  Is there any objection? 7 

MS. ELMILADY:  No, your Honor. 8 

THE COURT:  That's granted. 9 

Okay.  So was there already a bail hearing for 10 

Mr. Ahsani?   11 

MS. ELMILADY:  There was, your Honor.  There was a 12 

bail hearing.  He filled out all the paperwork.   13 

  

  

    

    

And then he needs to make his appearance here.  And 18 

he's here for the Rule 5.  And that's why we're here before 19 

your Honor. 20 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So the case was filed on -- what's 21 

the date -- June the 15th, 2018.  It's Case Number H-18-0974-M; 22 

United States versus Saman Ahsani.   23 

The complaint alleges that, between 2005 and 2016, in 24 

Harris County and elsewhere, in the Southern District of Texas, 25 
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5 

that you committed violations of 18 United States Code, Section 1 

371, 1956(h), 1956(a)(2)(A), 1956(a)(2)(B)(i), 1952, 1519 and 2 

15 United States Code, Sections 78dd-1.   3 

This is alleged violations of conspiracy to commit a 4 

violation of the Foreign Practices Act, FCPA violation, 5 

conspiracy to commit money laundering; money laundering 6 

international promotion; money laundering international 7 

concealment; violations of the Travel Act; and destruction of 8 

evidence.   9 

And the affiant is Mr. Boyden, who works for the 10 

Postal Inspection Department and Postal Inspection Service.   11 

And he swore to certain facts that the Government 12 

intends to prove, to show that you committed these violations.  13 

They are contained in the 21-page complaint and affidavit that 14 

was signed by Judge Johnson, on June the 15th, 2018. 15 

Have you received a copy of this complaint; and has 16 

your lawyer received a copy? 17 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, your Honor. 18 

THE COURT:  Yes.  And you've discussed it together? 19 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 20 

THE COURT:  And you understand the allegations 21 

against you? 22 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, I do. 23 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And what is the possible that 24 

could be imposed against Mr. Ahsani if he were to be found 25 
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6 

guilty of any of these allegations?   1 

MS. ELMILADY:  The highest maximum possible 2 

punishment range is up to 20 years in prison; a $250,000 fine 3 

or two times the gain or loss, depending on whichever one is 4 

greater; three years of supervised release. 5 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And the Government already agreed 6 

to bail for you. 7 

And do you have a bail order in place? 8 

MS. ELMILADY:  That's correct, your Honor. 9 

THE COURT:  All right.  The next Court appearance 10 

would be in the event -- in the near future.   11 

In the event an indictment is returned against you, 12 

you'd have to come to Houston, Texas to plead not guilty to 13 

that -- to those charges.   14 

And then a trial schedule would be set for you before 15 

a specific Judge.   16 

Did the Court in Virginia make a probable cause 17 

finding?   18 

MS. ELMILADY:  I believe so, your Honor, yes. 19 

MS. TALAY:  Yes. 20 

THE COURT:  Was there a probable cause hearing or did 21 

you waive that? 22 

MS. TALAY:  We waived it. 23 

THE COURT:  He waived it. 24 

All right.  Well, I find, based on the affidavit of 25 
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Mr. Boyden -- I also find that there's probable cause -- that 1 

you committed the offenses described in the complaint. 2 

Okay.  What else do we need to talk about from either 3 

side? 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  I think that's it, your Honor, unless 5 

you have any other questions for us.   6 

MS. TALAY:  I think -- we agree.  Nothing further, 7 

your Honor. 8 

THE COURT:  Is it easy for you to travel here to make 9 

your Court appearances? 10 

Yes? 11 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 12 

MS. TALAY:  Yes. 13 

THE COURT:  Okay. 14 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 15 

THE COURT:  Because what do you think the time table 16 

will be for his next Court appearance? 17 

It's hard to predict. 18 

MS. ELMILADY:  It's hard right now, your Honor.   19 

  20 

    

And right now we're thinking maybe October.  There's 22 

a speedy waiver motion that we're about to go file at the 23 

District Court, miscellaneous Judge  24 
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THE COURT:  Are you -- do you intend to agree to such 1 

a delay? 2 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 3 

THE COURT:  You do?   4 

All right.  Well, if you --  5 

MS. ELMILADY:  We have that order here.  But I wasn't 6 

sure if -- I think it has to go to a District Court Judge.  Or 7 

can your Honor sign it?  I'm not sure. 8 

THE COURT:  There is no District Judge assigned right 9 

now. 10 

MS. ELMILADY:  The miscellaneous Judge. 11 

THE CLERK:  No.  It's just a duty District --  12 

MS. ELMILADY:  Miscellaneous.   13 

THE COURT:  Oh, it does? 14 

MS. ELMILADY:  It's Judge Ellison. 15 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So the --  16 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor. 17 

THE COURT:  Judge Ellison.  Mr. Ahsani will have to 18 

go to the Marshal's office from this courtroom.   19 

MS. ELMILADY:  He does? 20 

THE COURT:  Yes. 21 

MS. ELMILADY:  There's no warrant anymore in place.   22 

THE COURT:  They just have to collect his 23 

information. 24 

THE CLERK:  Within this District, he needs to be 25 
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fingerprinted (indiscernible).   1 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay.  He has to process and print.  2 

Okay.  Okay, we can do that. 3 

THE COURT:  They won't keep you there. 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Huh? 5 

THE COURT:  They won't keep you there.  You're on 6 

bail.  But just please report to them on the tenth floor.  All 7 

right?  8 

MS. ELMILADY:  So we'll just hoof up to the tenth 9 

floor with his lawyers and the FBI agents? 10 

THE COURT:  Yes, yes. 11 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 12 

THE COURT:  That's fine.  All right.   13 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, Judge. 14 

THE COURT:  All right.  15 

MS. TALAY:  Thank you, your Honor. 16 

THE COURT:  Thank you for appearing.  Good luck with 17 

your case. 18 

MS. ELMILADY:  And we also request the case remain 19 

under seal still.  20 

THE COURT:  And this record is sealed. 21 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, your Honor. 22 

THE COURT:  And the case is under seal. 23 

MS. ELMILADY:  Appreciate it.  Thank you. 24 

THE COURT:  All right.  Hearing is adjourned. 25 
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MS. TALAY:  Thanks. 1 

THE DEFENDANT:  Thank you, again.  2 

THE COURT:  We will resume at 2:00 with more cases.   3 

THE CLERK:  We may have a Grand Jury before that, 4 

Judge. 5 

THE COURT:  -- unless a Grand Jury calls us.  And 6 

then we'll resume before that.   7 

MS. TALAY:  Okay.  Thank you. 8 

 (Proceeding adjourned at 10:14 p.m. and reconvened at 9 

1:58 p.m.) 10 

THE COURT:  The first case is 2018-625-M; U.S. versus 11 

Saman Ahsani.   12 

Does the courtroom need to be sealed for this? 13 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor.   14 

THE COURT:  Okay. 15 

MS. ELMILADY:  I'm sorry. 16 

THE COURT:  We'll do that. 17 

MS. ELMILADY:  Sorry, Judge. 18 

THE COURT:  Oh, it's not a problem. 19 

Mr. Saman and your lawyer, please approach the bench. 20 

Okay, when we met earlier this morning, we -- I was 21 

not aware that there's another complaint that was filed on 22 

April the 13th, in 2018, in Case Number H-18-625-M. 23 

And I forgot -- I mean, I didn't forget.  I didn't 24 

know that this existed.  And we should address it with you, 25 
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Mr. Ahsani.   1 

So have you also received a copy of the April 13th 2 

complaint? 3 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, I have, your Honor.   4 

THE COURT:  And you discussed it with your attorney?   5 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, I have, your Honor. 6 

THE COURT:  And you understand that you're -- in that 7 

complaint, you're being accused of violating 18 United States 8 

Code, Section 371, Section 1956(h), and Section 1519; 9 

conspiracy to commit violations of the Foreign Crime Practices 10 

Act, conspiracy to commit money laundering, and destruction of 11 

evidence, between 2005 through 2016, in Harris County, in the 12 

Southern District of Texas.   13 

So does the Government allege different offenses and 14 

different facts in the affidavit attached to the complaint? 15 

Is it different from the other complaint? 16 

MS. ELMILADY:  It's fairly similar, your Honor.  Just 17 

more specific violations were alleged in the other one.   18 

THE COURT:  Okay. 19 

MS. ELMILADY:  That was for extradition purposes.  So 20 

that's why there was two. 21 

THE COURT:  Right.  It predates Case Number 974 by a 22 

few months.  All right.  23 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yeah.  It's pretty much almost exactly 24 

the (indiscernible) that he was given this morning. 25 
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THE COURT:  Very good. 1 

And do you have an estimate of the possible 2 

punishment that could be imposed on the charges as they appear 3 

in the April complaint? 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor.  The maximum range of 5 

punishment that he faces:  Up to 20 years in prison; a $250,000 6 

fine or two times the gain or loss, whichever one is greater; 7 

and up to three years of supervised release. 8 

THE COURT:  And Mr. Ahsani will be on bail -- the 9 

same bail conditions regarding both complaints, correct?   10 

MS. ELMILADY:  Well, your Honor, we have a Motion to 11 

Dismiss the other complaint that we went over this morning. 12 

I (indiscernible) to Beverly for your Honor so 13 

there's no confusion down the road. 14 

THE COURT:  So the --  15 

MS. ELMILADY:  So that was --  16 

THE COURT:  -- Government's moving to dismiss Case 17 

Number H-18-cr-974. 18 

Any objection?   19 

MS. TALAY:  No, your Honor. 20 

THE COURT:  Then I will sign the order dismissing it. 21 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yeah.  He was processed in the 22 

Marshal's office, in the Eastern District of Virginia and here, 23 

this morning, pursuant to Cause Number 18-0625-M, which we're 24 

here before your Court -- before your Honor right now. 25 
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THE COURT:  All right.  Do you waive a probable cause 1 

hearing concerning April 13, 2018; Case Number 18-625-M? 2 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 3 

THE COURT:  Is that your decision based on your 4 

lawyer's advice? 5 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, it is, your Honor. 6 

THE COURT:  All right.  I do find that there's 7 

probable cause that you committed these offenses based on the 8 

affidavit of IRS Agent Robert Simpson. 9 

And so that's positive finding of probable cause. 10 

I believe we've talked about everything we need to 11 

talk about with you now. 12 

THE DEFENDANT:  Thank you so much.   13 

MS. ELMILADY:  That's correct, your Honor. 14 

We're going to go ahead and -- she's going to go 15 

ahead and fill out the probable cause waiver. 16 

I know they did it already in the Eastern District of 17 

Virginia, but we'll do another one here for your Honor, as 18 

well, so you'll --  19 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 20 

MS. ELMILADY:  -- have it on file. 21 

THE COURT:  That will be helpful. 22 

MS. ELMILADY:  And the United States is unopposed to 23 

him remaining on the same conditions that were given to him 24 

previously in the Eastern District of Virginia.   25 
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THE COURT:  And it will apply in this case. 1 

Okay.  So it's still going to require you to come 2 

back to Houston to -- if an indictment's returned against you, 3 

unless you make arrangements to resolve the case by pleading 4 

guilty elsewhere -- which is a possibility, I think. 5 

And so any other matters you want to discuss at this 6 

hearing from either side? 7 

MS. ELMILADY:  I think that is good.  And we'll get a 8 

copy of the dismissal for Ms. White when we get a chance so 9 

they can take it with them so there's problem. 10 

THE COURT:  We'll give it to you.   11 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you for accommodating us.  And, 12 

again, we apologize for the -- 13 

THE COURT:  And you signed the waiver form, both of 14 

you? 15 

MS. TALAY:  Yes. 16 

THE COURT:  Okay.  17 

MS. TALAY:  We'll do it right now.. 18 

THE COURT:  Please turn that in as well. 19 

MS. ELMILADY:  We'll do that right now. 20 

THE DEFENDANT:  Thank you very much indeed. 21 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you for appearing. 22 

MS. TALAY:  So do you want us to stay up here and 23 

finish it? 24 

THE COURT:  It doesn't really matter.  I mean, you 25 
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can sit down and do it if you'd like.  Just don't forget to 1 

give it to Ms. White. 2 

MS. ELMILADY  I'll make sure they get them. 3 

THE COURT:  Okay. 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, Judge. 5 

THE DEFENDANT:  Thank you, your Honor. 6 

THE COURT:  Thank you.   7 

We can unseal -- this record was -- is sealed.   8 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes. 9 

THE COURT:  The record of this hearing is sealed. 10 

Now we will have open Court and not have a sealed 11 

record, and resume our docket. 12 

  (Proceeding concluded at 2:04 p.m.)  13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 
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Houston, Texas; Monday, March 18, 2019; 2:31 p.m.   1 

(Call to Order) 2 

(Proceeding Ordered Sealed) 3 

THE COURT:  Okay.  This one's already on bail? 4 

Are other people in the audience involved in this 5 

case?  Yes? 6 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor. 7 

MR. KIHM:  Yes, your Honor. 8 

THE COURT:  Okay, great.  9 

MS. ELMILADY:  We have two FBI agents and one IRS 10 

agent. 11 

THE COURT:  Okay.  The case is United States of 12 

America versus Cyrus Allen Ahsani and Saman Ahsani. 13 

MS. ELMILADY:  Good morning, Judge -- good afternoon.  14 

Suzanne Elmilady and Mr. Dennis Kihm for the United States. 15 

MR. KIHM:  Good afternoon. 16 

MS. TALAY:  Rachel Talay for the Defendants. 17 

THE COURT:  Both Defendants? 18 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, ma'am. 19 

THE COURT:  Okay. 20 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 21 

THE COURT:  Are they present? 22 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 23 

THE COURT:  Will you please approach the bench? 24 

I understand Cyrus Allen Ahsani already been released 25 
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on bail? 1 

MS. ELMILADY:  I'm sorry.  What, your Honor? 2 

THE COURT:  Bail conditions have already been set for 3 

Cyrus Allen Ahsani? 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Your Honor, there -- Mr. Saman Ahsani 5 

appeared before your Honor on a criminal complaint several 6 

months ago, and he was released on bail. 7 

THE COURT:  Oh. 8 

MS. ELMILADY:  The criminal complaint are the same 9 

allegations in the -- as the criminal information, with the 10 

exception of the addition of his brother, Cyrus Ahsani.   11 

THE COURT:  And he not received bail --  12 

MS. ELMILADY:  No. 13 

THE COURT:  -- conditions yet? 14 

MS. ELMILADY:  No, your Honor. 15 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Which one is Saman?  16 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  That's me.  17 

Would you please come up to the bench and stand by 18 

your lawyer. 19 

And, Cyrus, that is you? 20 

Okay. 21 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Good afternoon, your Honor. 22 

THE COURT:  Hi.  So I'm going to release you on bail 23 

condition, Cyrus Allen Ahsani.   24 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor. 25 
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THE COURT:  These bail --  1 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Cyrus, your Honor.   2 

THE COURT:  -- conditions -- I'm sorry? 3 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  It's Cyrus.  I'm sorry. 4 

THE COURT:  Cyrus.  Okay, thank you.   5 

These bail conditions are standard bail conditions.   6 

Are they the ones that are recommended by the 7 

Probation office?  Yes? 8 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor.  We actually met with 9 

Pretrial this morning just to make sure they had everything -- 10 

or the paperwork; all the information needed with the lawyer 11 

and the Defendants.   12 

And they interviewed them, and came up with some bond 13 

conditions.  The United States came up with the monetary bond 14 

condition, because we believe that is appropriate in this case. 15 

And we do agree with all their restrictions, except 16 

there's a few of the prior conditions we wanted to make. 17 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So are you able to satisfy the 18 

monetary condition, making $100,000 promise to pay for the 19 

$250,000 cash deposit?  Yes? 20 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 21 

THE COURT:  Okay.  That's your monetary portion of 22 

your bond. 23 

MS. ELMILADY:  Sorry, your Honor.  I believe it's a 24 

million dollars is what we're asking for. 25 
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THE COURT:  Oh, a million dollars. 1 

MS. ELMILADY:  It's a 250,000 cash deposit for each 2 

Defendant.   3 

THE COURT:  Okay.  But one Defendant has already been 4 

released on bail, correct? 5 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor. 6 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So you will make a written promise 7 

to a million dollars in the event of your failure to make a 8 

Court appearance. 9 

Sorry.  I'm getting mixed up.  I'm reading bail 10 

conditions for Cyrus.  That is --  11 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  That is me.   12 

THE COURT:  -- you.  Okay. 13 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 14 

THE COURT:  A million dollars is what you'll have to 15 

pay if you fail to make a Court appearance --  16 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 17 

THE COURT:  -- or fail to surrender to serve any 18 

prison term that may be imposed against you in this case. 19 

You will also deposit $2,500 in the registry of the 20 

Court.   21 

Is that right –- two thousand 22 

MS. ELMILADY:  $250,000. 23 

THE COURT:  -- $250,000 --  24 

MS. ELMILADY:  I know it's a lot. 25 

Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 79-30 *SEALED*    Filed on 07/24/20 in TXSD   Page 5 of 26Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 83-1   Filed on 07/28/20 in TXSD   Page 211 of 281



  

 EXCEPTIONAL REPORTING SERVICES, INC 

6 

THE COURT:  Got to get my zeros correct.  1 

-- $250,000 in the registry of the Court.  Whoever 2 

owns that money will have the money returned to them after the 3 

bail conditions are no longer in place. 4 

But if you fail to make a Court appearance, that 5 

money, plus the balance of a million, will become the property 6 

of the United States.   7 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 8 

THE COURT:  And you'll be required to sign a bond and 9 

swear to it in regard to that monetary condition. 10 

And there are more conditions. 11 

Bail:  You must be a law-abiding person in all 12 

respects.  You must not violate any Federal, State, or local 13 

law while you're on release. 14 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 15 

THE COURT:  You must immediately advise the Court, by 16 

telling the Probation office, also your lawyer and the U.S. 17 

Attorney, of any change in your address or telephone number. 18 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 19 

THE COURT:  Are you able to live at your  20 

 address while you're on bail?   21 

Is that what's anticipated? 22 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  That's what -- yes. 23 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 24 

THE COURT:  And you've lived there for only seven 25 
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 1 

    2 

  3 

     4 

  5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

   9 

 10 

THE COURT:  Okay, great.   11 

And you're both living at the same address? 12 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Correct, your Honor. 13 

THE COURT:    14 

 15 

   16 

MS. ELMILADY:   17 

THE COURT:   18 

MS. ELMILADY:    19 

  20 

 21 

 22 

  23 

THE COURT:    24 

   25 
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  1 

MS. ELMILADY:      2 

THE COURT:   3 

MS. ELMILADY:   4 

THE COURT:     5 

  6 

    7 

 8 

MS. ELMILADY:    9 

THE COURT:     10 

  11 

   12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

MS. ELMILADY:     16 

THE COURT:  And do you each promise to appear at all 17 

your Court proceedings in Houston, Texas? 18 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 19 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 20 

THE COURT:  And if you are found guilty of any 21 

offense and any sentence is imposed, do you promise to 22 

surrender to serve any such prison term?   23 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 24 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 25 
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THE COURT:  All right.  All these proceedings are in 1 

front of Judge Gilmore.   2 

You must report on a regular basis to the FBI; not 3 

the Probation office, and meet any requirements that they 4 

direct.  You must get a copy telephones to add to Item 7-A for 5 

FBI reporting --  6 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor.  We can actually --  7 

THE COURT:  -- contacts. 8 

MS. ELMILADY:  I believe the agents are here today.  9 

They can leave their card with Pretrial Services as well, so 10 

they can have that information. 11 

THE COURT:     12 

  13 

MS. ELMILADY:     14 

THE COURT:     15 

MS. ELMILADY:    16 

 17 

 18 

  19 

    20 

THE COURT:   21 

  22 

MS. ELMILADY:     23 

THE COURT:     24 

MS. ELMILADY:    25 

Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 79-30 *SEALED*    Filed on 07/24/20 in TXSD   Page 10 of 26Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 83-1   Filed on 07/28/20 in TXSD   Page 216 of 281



  

 EXCEPTIONAL REPORTING SERVICES, INC 

11 

  1 

MR. KIHM:      2 

MS. ELMILADY:   3 

MR. KIHM:     4 

 5 

THE COURT:     6 

   7 

   8 

   9 

  10 

 11 

  12 

 13 

 14 

MS. ELMILADY:   15 

     16 

THE COURT:     17 

 18 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, Judge. 19 

THE COURT:  Do not possess a firearm, destructive 20 

device, or other dangerous weapon that's not required for this 21 

investigation.   22 

Do you own any guns? 23 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  No, your Honor. 24 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  No, your Honor. 25 
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THE COURT:  Do not use alcohol to excess.   1 

Do not use or possess a narcotic drug or other 2 

controlled substance. 3 

   4 

MS. ELMILADY:      5 

THE COURT:  Do report any contact with law 6 

enforcement officials, other than the ones that you're 7 

interacting with.  If you get arrested, you must immediately 8 

report that to your supervising FBI officer, okay? 9 

If you violate bail conditions, you have fairly 10 

stringent monetary penalties.  But also you could be accused of 11 

separate offenses, such as bond jumping or contempt of Court.   12 

If you were to be prosecuted for that, you'd face a 13 

separate possible prison term or fine that would be required to 14 

be stacked on top of any punishment you might receive in the 15 

underlying case. 16 

Okay.  That is -- is it a criminal information now? 17 

MS. ELMILADY:  It is, your Honor. 18 

THE COURT:  Okay. 19 

MS. ELMILADY:  Criminal information.   20 

THE COURT:  For both Defendants? 21 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor, the same. 22 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So please stay in the courtroom to 23 

sign and swear to your bail papers.   24 

And when will the bond be posted? 25 
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MS. ELMILADY:  Well, as soon as we can do it. 1 

They're here this week, that they can take care of it 2 

as soon as -- probably sometime in the next couple of days. 3 

MS. TALAY:  Yes. 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Probably. 5 

THE COURT:  Will they be allowed to be released --  6 

MS. ELMILADY:  Oh, yes.  Absolutely, yes.  7 

THE COURT:  In the meantime? 8 

So how about by 4:00 o'clock, on Wednesday?  Is that 9 

enough time to make the cash deposit? 10 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes. 11 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Sign your papers in the courtroom; 12 

go to the tenth floor to –-  13 

Thank you, Beverly, for this. 14 

-- to have your fingerprints made.   15 

Then interviews won't be with the Probation office; 16 

it will be with the FBI, to your -- your interview about your 17 

bail conditions is going to be with the FBI. 18 

  19 

  20 

 21 

All right.  So both of you are being represented by 22 

the same attorney?   23 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 24 

THE COURT:  And you're entitled to have your own 25 
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attorney who is loyal -- only loyal to you.  If you insist on 1 

having the same lawyer, you're going to be required to sign a 2 

waiver of independent counsel.   3 

There are several reasons why it could be not to your 4 

advantage to have the same attorney.  It imposes some 5 

restrictions on your lawyer to simultaneously represent you.   6 

Because something that might be advantageous to one 7 

of you might be not advantageous to the other. 8 

For instance, there are several, you know, fictitious 9 

or examples of what might happen if you have the same lawyer.  10 

And it might hurt one of you. 11 

For instance, the Government might offer a lesser 12 

sentence to one Defendant if he cooperates with the Government; 13 

but the lawyer ought to advise him on whether or not to accept 14 

the offer.   15 

And if the lawyer advises him to accept the offer -- 16 

I think that's my phone -- it might hurt the other client. 17 

Or the lawyer might be -- sorry.  Sorry about that, 18 

you-all. 19 

The lawyer might be hampered in cross-examining one 20 

of you if you testified, and that testimony hurts the other 21 

client, for instance.  22 

Or things -- in a conspiracy case, things that might 23 

be helpful to one person would clearly be harmful to another.  24 

And many times your typical defense in a conspiracy case is, "I 25 
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wasn't part of the conspiracy, but the other person was." 1 

And so deflecting guilt upon another Defendant is 2 

very common in a conspiracy case.  So evidence that helps one 3 

Defendant might harm another Defendant's case.  And when a 4 

lawyer represents two or more Defendants, he might offer or 5 

object to evidence that could help one Defendant, but harm the 6 

other. 7 

So you are entitled to have a lawyer that only is 8 

loyal to you, individually.  And even if you can't afford one, 9 

the Court can appoint a counsel for you free of charge who is 10 

well-versed in these sorts of cases. 11 

Ms. Elmilady knows that.  There are court-appointed 12 

lawyers who can -- who can very ably represent you. 13 

But you do have the right to have the same attorney 14 

if you want to.  You may have your own reasons.  However, 15 

you've got to sign this waiver if you want to do that, showing 16 

that you've talked to your own lawyer about these this choice 17 

that I have admonished you about, you know, the danger of doing 18 

that; that you still want the same attorney.   19 

And please sign the form. 20 

Is that your decision? 21 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, it is.  22 

THE COURT:  Is that your decision?   23 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor.   24 

THE COURT:  All right.  Will you each please sign the 25 
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form.  Fill in all the correct names.   1 

MS. ELMILADY:  Your Honor, in the meantime, I think 2 

Mr. Kihm and Ms. Talay have pro hac vice permissions to 3 

practice in the District Court. 4 

THE COURT:  Any objection?   5 

MS. ELMILADY:  No. 6 

THE COURT:  I'll sign those orders if Beverly can 7 

find them. 8 

MS. TALAY:  Your Honor, and there were a couple 9 

things in the Pretrial Report I just wanted to clarify for you. 10 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Please do.   11 

MS. TALAY:  One, it noted that Mr. Saman Ahsani had 12 

two passports; one in Britain and one for Ukraine. 13 

THE COURT:  Okay. 14 

MS. TALAY:  It's actually Iran; and not Ukraine. 15 

THE COURT:  Have all the passports been surrendered 16 

to the FBI?   17 

MS. TALAY:  Yes. 18 

THE COURT:  Yes, okay.  Any other discrepancies?   19 

MS. TALAY:  Yes.  It notes that the co-Defendant to 20 

Cyrus is his younger brother.  Saman Ahsani is actually his 21 

middle brother.   22 

THE COURT:  That person's not a Defendant?   23 

MS. TALAY:  The youngest brother is not a Defendant, 24 

correct.   25 
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THE COURT:  Anything else?   1 

MS. TALAY:    2 

    3 

 4 

  5 

 6 

   7 

    8 

   9 

THE COURT:  Okay, thank you. 10 

So the motion to appear pro hac vice for Mr. Kihm, 11 

I'm going to grant that. 12 

And for Ms. Talay, I'm going to grant that too. 13 

MS. TALAY:  Thank you, your Honor.  14 

MR. SPEAKER:  (Indiscernible). 15 

THE COURT:  I will.  Yes.  Do we have to do 16 

arraignment on the --  17 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor, we do. 18 

THE COURT:  -- information?   19 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes. 20 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So in the information that was 21 

filed on -- I do have the schedule with the dates here for you. 22 

In the information that was filed on March the 4th, 23 

2019 -- it's Criminal Case Number 2019-147; United States of 24 

America versus Cyrus Allen Ahsani and Saman Ahsani.   25 
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And the accusation is conspiracy to violate the 1 

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977.  It's pretty long; over 2 

50 pages -- 56 pages.  3 

Have you all read this?  Have each of you read the 4 

charges?   5 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 6 

THE COURT:  Have you discussed it with your attorney?   7 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 8 

THE COURT:  And you understand the accusations?   9 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 10 

THE COURT:  And the -- this is the information.  So 11 

we'll also have to have a waiver of indictment in a moment. 12 

The possible punishment, if you were to be found 13 

guilty, is up to five years in prison; a $250,000 fine, or 14 

twice the gain or loss -- which is how much? 15 

MS. ELMILADY:  Well, your Honor, right now, it's more 16 

of a -- we don't really have an accurate number for that right 17 

now.  It's in the millions.  We're just not sure exactly what 18 

it is. 19 

We'll have that before sentencing.   20 

 21 

 22 

THE COURT:  Any prison term that you might have to 23 

serve could be followed by a three-year term of supervised 24 

release.  And $100 special assessment would be added to any 25 
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monetary penalty to put in the Criminal Justice Act fund.   1 

Okay.  If you -- so how do you plead to the Foreign 2 

Corrupt Practices Act conspiracy accusation? 3 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Not guilty, your Honor.   4 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Not guilty.   5 

THE COURT:  You're both not -- pleading not guilty.  6 

Those not-guilty pleas are made a part of the record in this 7 

case.   8 

Your case is set for a trial before Judge Gilmore.  9 

The trial is to start on May the 20th, at 1:30 p.m.  It will 10 

continue day-to-day until the trial is finished. 11 

There is a pretrial conference on May 13, at 9:30 12 

a.m.  That requires you to appear, as well, before Judge 13 

Gilmore.   14 

There's an April 8th motion deadline.   15 

Response deadline of April 18th.   16 

Proposed voir dire and jury charge to be filed by May 17 

the 10th.  Pretrial con -- oh, I already told you about the 18 

pretrial conference. 19 

Okay.  How many days will it take to try this case if 20 

it goes to trial?   21 

MS. ELMILADY:  Probably two weeks, your Honor.   22 

THE COURT:  Does either Defendant wish to waive his 23 

speedy trial rights at this time? 24 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes,  25 
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DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 1 

THE COURT:  You do, okay.  I'll accept your signature 2 

on the waiver form. 3 

You've already talked to your lawyer about your right 4 

to a speedy trial? 5 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes.  6 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, your Honor. 7 

THE COURT:  And you are anticipating new Defendants 8 

in this case? 9 

MS. ELMILADY:  We are, your Honor.  We're actually 10 

trying to get a re-arraignment date right now, with Judge 11 

Gilmore, but she's in the middle of a civil trial.  They're 12 

about to start.   13 

And so we do anticipate several more coming down the 14 

pipeline.   15 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Please sign this 16 

schedule.  You'll be given a copy for your records.   17 

We need to add an extra line for the extra Defendant, 18 

I guess. 19 

MS. CLERK:  They no longer have to sign it. 20 

THE COURT:  They don't have to sign it? 21 

MS. CLERK:  They were given a copy (indiscernible). 22 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Here's -- fine.  Thank you, 23 

Beverly. 24 

Okay.  When you sign your bail papers, I would like 25 
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you to please list more than one telephone number where your 1 

lawyer can reach you.   2 

Because if the Court dates change, the only way the 3 

Court will communicate with you is through your attorney.  You 4 

won't receive another written schedule like this if the trial 5 

is reset.  6 

Or if you have a re-arraignment date that the 7 

Government just alluded to, we don't know what date that will 8 

be.  And yet it's your obligation to appear at all your Court 9 

proceedings.  So you want to make sure your lawyer can easily 10 

contact you to let you know about Court dates. 11 

So please put more than one telephone number where 12 

you can be reached at the last page of your bail papers. 13 

Okay.  I'm now signing your waiver of indictment.   14 

I accept your waiver.  And I accept your waiver of 15 

speedy trial.   16 

And now I'd like to -- did I tell you about -- I 17 

didn't tell you about your right to have the case presented to 18 

the Grand Jury.  And you may be able to talk to  your lawyer 19 

about that.   20 

But the Grand Jury is a neutral body of citizens who 21 

are not involved in law enforcement.  And they meet on a 22 

regular basis, in this court house.  They are sworn to keep all 23 

of their proceedings private. 24 

And what happens is, they are called upon to evaluate 25 
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the evidence that the Government may have against you, and to 1 

decide if the evidence is credible; if it is strong enough for 2 

charges to be brought against you. 3 

If at least 12 of those people don't agree that the 4 

evidence is credible or strong enough, then they can no-bill 5 

the indictment, and charges are not brought against you. 6 

It takes at least 12 of them to decide that this is a 7 

worthy case to be prosecuted.  It's an extra layer of 8 

protection for you.   9 

But if you're cooperating and you're planning on 10 

re-arraignment, it makes sense that you would waive indictment.   11 

And is this your decision, based on your lawyer's 12 

advice? 13 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, it is, your Honor. 14 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes. 15 

THE COURT:  Okay.  I'll accept your waiver. 16 

Okay.  What else do we need to talk about? 17 

MS. ELMILADY:  Well, we request that this hearing be 18 

under seal, which I think has already been --  19 

THE COURT:  It will be under seal. 20 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, your Honor. 21 

I think the Garcia Motion we filed – that conflict 22 

motion is moot now because they've already signed the waiver.   23 

So I think that's it.   24 

THE COURT:  The motion is what document?   25 

Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 79-30 *SEALED*    Filed on 07/24/20 in TXSD   Page 22 of 26Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 83-1   Filed on 07/28/20 in TXSD   Page 228 of 281



  

 EXCEPTIONAL REPORTING SERVICES, INC 

23 

MS. ELMILADY:  We filed a -- I don't remember the 1 

document number.  We filed a motion for -- it's a Garcia 2 

hearing Motion for the conflict of interest for the waiver -- 3 

THE COURT:  Are you withdrawing that motion? 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  We're not really withdrawn it. 5 

THE COURT:  Or you just want me to rule that as moot?   6 

MS. ELMILADY:  (Indiscernible) rule it or you 7 

could -- yeah. 8 

THE COURT:  If you identify the docket number, I 9 

will --  10 

MS. ELMILADY:  That's fine. 11 

THE COURT:  -- do that.   12 

MS. ELMILADY:  I don't know the docket number 13 

actually. 14 

MR. KIHM:  I have the original, your Honor.  It's all 15 

under seal.  And so I --  16 

THE COURT:  Do you know what day it was filed? 17 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes.   18 

THE CLERK:  I think it's Number 20 --  19 

MS. ELMILADY:  Last Friday it was filed.   20 

THE CLERK:  March the 8th?  (Indiscernible). 21 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes.   22 

MR. KIHM:  Yes. 23 

MS. ELMILADY:  That's it.  Yes.  Yes, your Honor.   24 

THE CLERK:  It's Docket Entry 24.  25 
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MS. ELMILADY:  Docket Entry 24. 1 

THE COURT:  Number 24.  I'm going to make an oral 2 

determination that motion is moot.   3 

Can that be entered in the record; that oral 4 

determination? 5 

THE CLERK:  Yes. 6 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else from either side? 7 

All right.  Please stay in the courtroom until you 8 

sign your bail papers, and exit interview with the FBI after 9 

going to the Marshal's office to be fingerprinted. 10 

Did they already do that?   11 

MS. ELMILADY:  That's already been taken care of, 12 

your Honor. 13 

THE COURT:  All right, thank you.  It's already been 14 

taken care of. 15 

MS. ELMILADY:  Did we go over the range of 16 

punishment?  I can't remember.   17 

THE COURT:  I did go over the range of punishment.   18 

MS. ELMILADY:  Sorry.  My brain is still not working 19 

a whole bunch.  Okay. 20 

THE COURT:  I understand that.   21 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you.  It was up to five years in 22 

prison; a $250,000 fine or twice the gross, loss --  23 

MS. ELMILADY:  Now I remember. 24 

THE COURT:  -- which is to be determined; a three-25 
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year term of supervised release; and $100 special assessment.   1 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, Judge. 2 

THE COURT:  All right.  This record is sealed.  You 3 

are excused. 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, your Honor. 5 

MS. TALAY:  Thank you, your Honor. 6 

MR. KIHM:  Thank you, your Honor.   7 

  (Proceeding concluded at 2:55 p.m.)  8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 
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Houston, Texas; Wednesday, March 20, 2019; 2:11 p.m. 1 

(Call to Order) 2 

(Proceeding Ordered Sealed) 3 

THE COURT:  Okay.  We're on the record.  Go ahead. 4 

The name of the case?   5 

MR. KIHM:  United States versus Ahsani. 6 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And the case number? 7 

MR. KIHM:  Is 19-147. 8 

THE COURT:  Okay.  I don't have that.  I don't have 9 

my file.  So –- 10 

THE CLERK:  State your names for the record. 11 

THE COURT:  -- that's why I made you do it. 12 

THE CLERK:  -- for the record. 13 

THE COURT:  Yes. 14 

MR. KIHM:  Yes.  This is Dennis Kihm; K-i-h-m, on 15 

behalf of the United States.  Along with me is Suzanne 16 

Elmilady. 17 

THE COURT:  All right.  So I understand you want to 18 

nullify the bail conditions for both the Defendants?   19 

MR. KIHM:  Yes, your Honor.  Just to be clear, 20 

Ms. Talay -- Rachel Talay is here on behalf of the Defendants, 21 

Cyrus Ahsani and Saman Ahsani. 22 

THE COURT:  Oh. 23 

MS. TALAY:  Thank you, your Honor. 24 

MR. KIHM:  Yes, your Honor.  We have requested, for 25 
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both Defendants, as to the modification conditions. 1 

THE CLERK:  The Defendants are not going to be heard? 2 

MS. TALAY:  They're here. 3 

MR. KIHM:  The Defendants are present in Court.   4 

THE COURT:  I think they should approach the bench. 5 

MS. ELMILADY:  That's probably a good idea. 6 

THE COURT:  Are these agreed modifications? 7 

MR. KIHM:  Yes, your Honor.   8 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 9 

MS. ELMILADY:  Basically what we're trying to do is 10 

we want both Defendants conditions to be exactly the same.   11 

And so we realized, after we walked out yesterday, 12 

that Saman Ahsani's conditions were given to him in the Eastern 13 

District of Virginia, and don't mimic the exact conditions that 14 

co-Defendant Cyrus Ahsani that you gave him yesterday.  15 

So we wanted to make sure that they had -- you know, 16 

everything was equal and the same -- that sort of thing.  So --  17 

THE COURT:  Which one do you want to apply? 18 

MS. ELMILADY:  We want the bond conditions for Cyrus 19 

Ahsani to apply to Saman Ahsani -- is one condition. 20 

THE COURT:  And that is the ones I announced? 21 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes.  Yes, your Honor. 22 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  23 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, your Honor. 24 

MS. ELMILADY:  So I don't know if your Honor prefers 25 
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for me to draft in the order -- motion order. 1 

THE COURT:  A motion order is required, yes. 2 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay.  So after this hearing, and we 3 

get everything on the record, I'll go through and I'll draft 4 

everything up and give it in order to your Honor to do so.   5 

And I think Dennis wants to make one modification. 6 

Correct?  7 

MR. KIHM:  Just there's a couple actually, of 8 

modifications, on Cyrus' conditions.    9 

  

      

   

    

   

  

       

  

THE CLERK:      

    

      

  

THE COURT:  Okay. 22 

MR. KIHM:   23 
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 1 

  --   

THE COURT:  They're winding down their business. 3 

MR. KIHM:  Yes. 4 

THE COURT:  Well, they're allowed to do that. 5 

MR. KIHM:  Correct.  Yes, your Honor.   6 

THE COURT:  So I'm calling that, "Employment." 7 

MR. KIHM:  Okay. 8 

THE COURT:  That's their job; winding down their 9 

business. 10 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay, excellent.  Thank you.  11 

MR. KIHM:  Certainly. 12 

  13 

     

   

THE COURT:   16 

    

     

  

 20 
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This is going to be under seal too, right? 1 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, your Honor. 2 

THE COURT:  The bond?  Okay. 3 

MS. ELMILADY:  And just so the Court is aware, we 4 

have a plea -- we have a re-arraignment date before Judge 5 

Gilmore, Monday, at 8:00 a.m. 6 

THE COURT:  Okay.   7 

MS. ELMILADY:  For both Defendants. 8 

THE COURT:  That's why you're still here. 9 

MS. ELMILADY:  Well, they're actually flying back and 10 

coming back for it. 11 

THE COURT:  Oh. 12 

MS. ELMILADY:  She's in the middle of a really 13 

complex civil trial.  She doesn't have time. 14 

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, why don't you -- oh, 15 

and then more changes?  Sorry. 16 

MR. KIHM:  No.  No, your Honor, that's it. 17 

THE COURT:  Why don't you draft new bond conditions. 18 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 19 

THE COURT:  You can put both Defendants names --  20 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 21 

THE COURT:  -- on one. 22 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 23 

THE COURT:  Appearance bond.  They can both sign it. 24 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 25 
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THE COURT:  Is it all right, Beverly?   1 

No, okay.  You have to have two identical ones, 2 

except two different -- one person's name on each one.  But --  3 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 4 

THE COURT:  Otherwise, all the conditions the same. 5 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 6 

THE COURT:  And the motion that I enter these 7 

bonds -- that I modified the -- previously --  8 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 9 

THE COURT:  -- enter.  And, you know, you can --  10 

THE CLERK:  Do they have to sign the -- in electronic 11 

form?   12 

I gave her a blank copy.  I can -- we have it on the 13 

e-mail.  We can e-mail to you. 14 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay.  Yes, your Honor.  And I 15 

could -- we're right here.  I can help fill it out, and come 16 

back and have them swear to it. 17 

So just to be clear, where I draft my motion --  18 

THE COURT:  I don't think they have to swear to it 19 

again. 20 

MS. ELMILADY:  They don't? 21 

THE COURT:  Do they, Beverly? 22 

THE CLERK:  They don't if you sign an order that she 23 

does.  If they do it in the bond, they do.  24 

THE COURT:  Let's just come back and swear -- and 25 
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sign and swear.  We can do it today.   1 

You-all can hang out with Ms. Elmilady while she 2 

prepares the documents.  I won't leave because I have a Grand 3 

Jury with 23 indictments or something coming in. 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Oh, that's awful. 5 

MR. KIHM:  Sorry, your Honor. 6 

THE COURT:  So we'll just regroup.  When your 7 

paperwork is ready, I will -- you can present your motion, and 8 

I'll sign the order.  I'll sign the two bonds; you can swear to 9 

them.  It'll be neat and clean and exactly how you like it 10 

with, you know, the right wording, et cetera. 11 

And then nobody has to be uncertain about it -- about 12 

any of the conditions, all right?   13 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you.   14 

THE COURT:  If you don't mind waiting.  No pressure, 15 

but how long is it going to take you to prepare? 16 

MS. ELMILADY:  I figure ten minutes. 17 

THE COURT:  Oh, take your time.  I mean -- 18 

MS. ELMILADY:  What I can do is just do a motion to 19 

amend the -- and a motion to present -- a joint motion for the 20 

bond conditions, and then attach these two as exhibits for your 21 

Honor with an attached order.   22 

Does that -- is that --  23 

THE COURT:  Yes. 24 

MS. ELMILADY:  Or do you want me to type everything 25 
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out?  1 

THE COURT:  These will have to be filled out --  2 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes. 3 

THE COURT:  -- exactly how you want them. 4 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 5 

THE COURT:  And the motion must be in writing. 6 

MS. ELMILADY:  Got it.  Yes, for sure.  7 

And then I'll attach those as exhibits with all the 8 

conditions on it, unless you want me to type up all the 9 

conditions again.   10 

THE COURT:  No. 11 

MS. ELMILADY:  I don't need to, okay. 12 

THE COURT:  No.  13 

MS. ELMILADY:  Then I can do it in ten minutes. 14 

THE COURT:  You can fill this in by hand if you want 15 

to. 16 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay. 17 

THE COURT:  I mean, that's how I've done it.  And 18 

it's fine as long as it's clearly the right conditions that you 19 

wanted. 20 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay.  We'll draw something -- I mean, 21 

I can -- 22 

THE COURT:  Separate name on each one that each 23 

person -- each Defendant can sign. 24 

MS. ELMILADY:  Got it.  Okay. 25 
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THE COURT:  Okay.  Take your time.   1 

Just call Beverly on the phone when you want to come 2 

back, then we'll just take a recess.   3 

Everybody in here can take a 15-minute recess.  And 4 

then we'll ask our court reporter to come back in. 5 

MS. ELMILADY:  Okay.  I can have it done in 15 6 

minutes.  I'm around the corner, and I already started typing 7 

it.  So we're pretty good.   8 

All right.  Thank you, Judge. 9 

MS. TALAY:  Thank you, your Honor. 10 

THE COURT:  Okay. 11 

MR. KIHM:  Thank you, your Honor. 12 

THE COURT:  We'll see you soon. 13 

 (Recess taken from 2:18 p.m. to 3:16 p.m.) 14 

THE COURT:  Okay.  We're on the record.  Back on the 15 

record in our previously -- the hearing we previously began in 16 

Case Number 2019-147, a sealed case; U.S. versus Ahsani and 17 

Ahsani.  And this is a continuation of that record. 18 

And now the Government is presenting a written joint 19 

motion to set release bond conditions so that the bond 20 

conditions read yesterday can apply to both of the Defendants. 21 

And we're going to re-execute the bonds that have 22 

been drafted as Exhibit A and Exhibit B to the motion, and will 23 

be attached to the order.   24 

I am granting the Government's motion and the 25 
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Defendants' joint motion is granted.   1 

This order says, "Release Bond Conditions:  It's 2 

hereby ordered that the bond conditions listed in Exhibit A and 3 

Exhibit B of the joint motion to set release bond conditions is 4 

to be imposed on Defendants Cyrus Allen Ahsani and Saman 5 

Ahsani."  I'm signing that now.   6 

And let me just look at the new bond conditions.  The 7 

financial conditions are the same, as we discussed yesterday.  8 

And we're going to ask you to swear again to these conditions 9 

and sign them. 10 

Then the other conditions include all the 11 

admonishments -- admonitions about not violating a law, keeping 12 

everyone apprised of your whereabouts,  13 

   

  

 16 

, and for you to work and live  

within the United States, and the other usual prohibitions 18 

against using or possessing a firearm or dangerous drugs.   19 

So I think it's all in order.  So I will ask you to 20 

sign and swear to these new bonds.  That doesn't have to be 21 

done on the record. 22 

THE CLERK:  But I do think the record needs to state 23 

that one -- both of them have to make a deposit.  And, 24 

previously, one of the Defendants didn't have a deposit. 25 
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THE COURT:  Who had --  1 

MS. ELMILADY:  They both have their cashier's check 2 

here with them today to go make the deposit in the Court's 3 

Registry. 4 

THE COURT:  Terrific.  Okay, great.  So when you 5 

finish signing these, you can go take care of your cash 6 

deposit. 7 

MS. ELMILADY:  Where do they go?  Is it the fifth 8 

floor?   9 

THE COURT:  Yes, the fifth floor.   10 

MS. TALAY:  Okay.  Thank you, your Honor. 11 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And is there anything further to 12 

be on this record today? 13 

MS. ELMILADY:  I believe not.   14 

Anything else, we have? 15 

MR. KIHM:  No, your Honor.  Thank you so much. 16 

THE COURT:  Please wait in the courtroom to sign the 17 

documents.  This hearing is adjourned, and the record is 18 

sealed. 19 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, your Honor. 20 

MR. KIHM:  Thank you, your Honor. 21 

THE COURT:  And these documents also will be sealed.   22 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, Judge, very much.   23 

 (Proceeding concluded at 3:19 p.m.) 24 

 25 
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THE COURT:  I am calling the case of the United 

States of America v. Cyrus Allen Ahsani and Saman Ahsani.  

If there is anybody in the courtroom that's not here on one 

of those cases you're going to have to leave the courtroom 

at this time, apparently.  

For the United States. 

MR. KIHM:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Dennis Kihm 

and Suzanne Elmilady -- 

THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I did not understand your 

last name.  

MR. KIHM:  I'm sorry.  It's "Kihm", like "scheme" 

but without an "S".  K-i-h-m.

MS. ELMILADY:  And I am Suzanne Elmilady for the 

United States, Your Honor.  Good morning. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Hold one second.

K-i-h-m?  

MR. KIHM:  "M" as in "Mike".  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  For Cyrus Ahsani. 

MS. TALAY:  Rachel Talay, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  I'm sorry?  

MS. TALAY:  Rachel Talay. 

THE COURT:  And who is Cyrus Ahsani?  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Good morning, Your Honor.  

I'm sorry. 

THE COURT:  All right.  And for Saman Ahsani?  
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MS. TALAY:  Rachel Talay. 

THE COURT:  Oh.  You're for both?  

MS. TALAY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  And you are?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Saman Ahsani.  Good 

morning. 

THE COURT:  You're representing both defendants in 

this case?  

MS. TALAY:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Pardon me?  

MS. TALAY:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  That's a little unusual.  How is that?  

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, we had a motion for a Garcia 

hearing that we filed with the Court, and the magistrate 

held a hearing to inquire into the representation and had 

them waive on the record that they waived -- 

THE COURT:  -- waived any conflict?  

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor. 

MS. ELMILADY:  They also executed agreements before 

Judge Stacy with respect to the conflicts. 

THE COURT:  With respect to what?  

MS. ELMILADY:  The conflict.  She had them execute 

two documents that -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, is this going to be an 

information, then?  
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MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor. 

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  But I don't have a copy of -- I don't 

have a waiver of the indictment filed yet.  Do I?  

MS. ELMILADY:  We did one before Judge Stacy, Your 

Honor.  

THE COURT:  You did?  

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, Your Honor.  We did for both 

defendants. 

THE COURT:  For both defendants?  

MS. ELMILADY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Why do I have a note "Need to sign the 

waiver of the indictment"?  

(Case manager and the Court confer) 

THE COURT:  Did you guys file it already?  

MR. KIHM:  It was filed last week, Your Honor, in 

court.  The waiver of indictment was done in court, but    

it --

THE COURT:  We still don't have it.

MS. ELMILADY:  Maybe Ms. White hasn't filed it yet, 

but I assure the Court we did one before.  But we're happy 

to do another one if Your Honor wants us to.  But we did do 

one. 

THE COURT:  Who filed it?  

MS. ELMILADY:  Well, Ms. Beverly White took it 
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afterwards.  She took the waiver of indictment, the conflict

waiver, and that was it.  Usually, we just give it back to

the case manager.  We can do another one just to be safe.

THE COURT:  Yeah, I think we'd better because we

don't have that.  Y'all think you did?

Ms. Talay, do you think you did the waiver of

indictment?

MS. TALAY: We do.  I recall doing it, but we're

happy to do it again, Your Honor.

THE COURT: They have copies down there?

CASE MANAGER:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You already gave them copies?

CASE MANAGER:  Yes.

THE COURT: Okay.

All right.  Gentlemen, I understand that you

wish to enter a plea of "guilty" in the case that's now

pending against you in this court.  I need to ask you some

questions before taking your plea.

So, Mr. Cyrus Ahsani, when I ask -- Okay.

Which one is which?  I'm sorry.  I have got them mixed up.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  I am Cyrus, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Saman Ahsani, when I

ask questions will you answer me first, please, sir?

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And when I ask questions, Mr. Cyrus
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Ahsani, you will answer second.  Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  I understand you wish to 

enter a plea of "guilty" in the case that's now pending 

against you in this court.  Is that correct?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Before I can take your plea I need to 

ask you some questions under oath.  Raise your right hand to 

be sworn.

(Defendants sworn) 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that you're now under 

oath and that if you answer any of my questions falsely that 

your answers can be used against you in another prosecution 

for perjury -- that is, for telling a false statement? 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  State your full name, please.  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Saman Ahsani.

THE COURT:  How old are you? 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  I am 45 years old.

THE COURT:  How far did you go in school? 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  I got a bachelor's at 

university and a master's in business administration. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And you can read and write the 

Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 79-32 *SEALED*    Filed on 07/24/20 in TXSD   Page 6 of 36Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 83-1   Filed on 07/28/20 in TXSD   Page 251 of 281



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

7

English language.  Is that correct, sir?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes.  That's correct. 

THE COURT:  State your full name.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Cyrus Allen Ahsani.

THE COURT:  How old are you?  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  50 years old, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  How far did you go in school?

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  I did a bachelor of 

science. 

THE COURT:  So, you can read and write the English 

language.  Is that correct, sir?

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Have you ever been treated for any 

mental illness or addiction to narcotic drugs of any kind?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  No, Your Honor. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Are you currently under the influence 

of any medication or alcoholic beverage or narcotic drug of 

any kind?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  No, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Have you received a copy of the 

information pending against you?  That is the written 

charges that are pending against you.

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 
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DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  And I do not, as I stated on the record 

a few moments ago, have a copy of a signed waiver of your 

right to be indicted, but do you understand that you have 

the right to be indicted by a grand jury concerning the 

matter that's before this court on an information?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that by pleading to 

the information that you're waiving your right to be 

indicted by a grand jury?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Would you please sign the waivers of 

indictment that the Court has placed in front of you.

(Waivers of indictment executed) 

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Saman Ahsani, have you 

signed the waiver?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, I have. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And, Mr. Cyrus Ahsani, have you 

signed the waiver as well?

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Have you had a chance to 

fully discuss the charges contained in the information with 

your lawyer?  
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DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Do you need any additional -- Are you 

satisfied with the counsel and representation that your 

lawyer has provided to you?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you need any additional time to 

speak with your lawyer this morning before I take your plea?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  No.  Thank you. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  No, Your Honor.  Thank 

you. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Talay, have you had sufficient time 

to investigate the law and the facts concerning the case 

against your clients? 

MS. TALAY:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And have they both been able to 

cooperate with you in every way?  

MS. TALAY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you believe that they each 

understand the nature of the charges pending against them?

MS. TALAY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you believe they are each competent 

to enter a plea in this case?  

MS. TALAY:  Yes, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  Do you know of any reason why either of 

them should not plead "guilty" or of any meritorious 

defenses that they might have?  

MS. TALAY:  No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Is there a plea agreement in this case 

against Mr. -- say your name again. 

MR. KIHM:  Kihm. 

THE COURT:  -- Kihm?  

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor, there are plea 

agreements in this case. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Under what section of   

Rule 11 are they filed?  

MR. KIHM:  Section (c)(1)(A) and (c)(1)(B), Your 

Honor. 

THE COURT:  Would you state for the record the 

terms of the plea agreement.  

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  Are they the same for each defendant?  

MR. KIHM:  The essential terms are the same, Your 

Honor, under which they would plead "guilty" to Count 1 of 

the information.  

The United States would agree not to oppose 

the anticipated request of the Court and the United States 

to receive a two-level downward departure and an additional 

one-level downward departure if appropriate.   
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.  And there is also 

an appellate waiver which would have them waive appeal 

rights except as to ineffective assistance of counsel. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Are those the terms of your plea 

agreement with the government as you understand them?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Has anybody made any different promise 

or assurance to you of any kind to induce you to enter into 

this plea of "guilty"?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  No, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Has anybody tried to force you to plead 

"guilty"?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  No.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that the terms of the 

plea agreement are merely recommendations to the Court, 

other than the government's agreement to dismiss certain 

counts, and that I can reject the recommendations without 

permitting you to withdraw your plea of "guilty" or impose a 

sentence that might be more severe than you anticipated? 

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:   
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DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Do you understand that the offenses to 

which you have indicated you wish to plead "guilty" are 

felony offenses and that if you are adjudged guilty of that 

offense that that adjudication could deprive you of valuable 

civil rights, such as the right to vote, the right to hold 

public office, the right to serve on a jury or the right to 

possess a firearm of any kind?

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  As you're not citizens of the United 

States of America, a felony conviction may lead to your 

deportation or exclusion from this country or a denial of 

naturalization under federal law.  Do you understand?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  The maximum possible penalty provided 

by law for the crime to which you have indicated you wish to 

plead "guilty" is imprisonment for up to five years and a 

fine of not more than $250,000 or twice the gross gain or 
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loss.  Do you understand?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that the Court can 

also impose a period of supervised release following any 

term of imprisonment and that, if you violate any of the 

terms or conditions of supervised release that might be 

imposed as part of your sentence, then you -- that the Court 

can impose a period of supervised release of up to three 

years and, if you violate any of the terms or conditions, 

that you can be re-imprisoned for up to two years without 

credit for the time already served before that violation 

occurred?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, I understand.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand for each offense you 

must pay a special assessment of $100?  In this case that 

would be $100 for the one count of conviction.

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that you cannot be 

placed on probation or have the imposition or execution of 

your sentence suspended and that you are not eligible for 

parole?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.
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DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that the Sentencing 

Commission has issued a set of advisory guidelines for 

judges to help us determine the appropriate sentence in a 

criminal case like this?  Have you had a chance to talk to 

your lawyer about how the Sentencing Guidelines might work 

in your case?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, I have Your Honor. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Do you understand that I won't be able 

to determine the appropriate sentence for your case until 

after a presentence investigation report has been prepared 

and you and your lawyer have a chance to review that report, 

as well as the lawyer for the United States, and make any 

objections to that report that you might want to make?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Do you understand that the sentence 

that I impose might be different from any estimate that your 

lawyer may have given to you?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that after it has 

been determined what guidelines apply in this case that I 

have the authority to impose a sentence that is more severe 
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or less severe than what is called for under the  

guidelines?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Do you understand that by entering into 

this plea agreement and entering a plea of "guilty" that you 

will have waived or given up your right to appeal all or any 

part of this sentence?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Do you understand that parole has been 

abolished in the federal system and that if you're sentenced 

to prison you will not be released on parole?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that if I do not 

accept the sentencing recommendation in your plea agreement 

that you will still be bound by your plea and you will have 

no right to withdraw it?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that you have the 

right to plead "not guilty" to the offense charged against 

you and to persist in that plea; and, if you did so, you 

would have the right to a trial by jury, and at that trial 
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you would be presumed to be innocent and the government 

would have to prove your guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, 

and you would have the right to the assistance of your 

counsel for your defense, and the right to see and hear all 

witnesses and have them cross-examined in your defense, and 

the right on your own part to decline to testify, unless you 

voluntarily elected to do so in your own defense, and the 

right to the issuance of subpoenas and other compulsory 

process to compel the attendance of witnesses to testify in 

your defense; and that if you decided not to testify or put 

on any evidence at all that that fact could not be used 

against you in trial?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Do you understand that by entering a 

plea of "guilty", if that plea is accepted by this court, 

that there will be no trial by jury and you will have waived 

or given up the right to trial by jury and all the other 

rights associated with a trial by jury that I just described 

to you?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  The charges to which you have  

indicated -- that each of you has indicated you wish to 

plead "guilty" to is under Count 1 of the information, 

Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 79-32 *SEALED*    Filed on 07/24/20 in TXSD   Page 16 of 36Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 83-1   Filed on 07/28/20 in TXSD   Page 261 of 281



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

17

conspiracy to violate the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, to 

launder money and destroy evidence, in violation of     

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, the elements of 

which are, under conspiracy, that you and at least one other 

person made an agreement to violate the Foreign Corrupt 

Practices Act, launder the proceeds of the Foreign Corrupt 

Practices Act violations, and to promote and conceal the 

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act activity and to destroy 

evidence as charged in the information; that you knew the 

unlawful purpose of the agreement and joined in it  

willfully -- that is, with the intent to further the 

unlawful purpose; and, third, that one of the conspirators 

during the existence of the conspiracy knowingly committed 

at least one of the overt acts described in the information 

in order to accomplish some object or purpose of the 

conspiracy.  

There were three violations?  

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, I'm sorry -- 

THE COURT:  This got changed. 

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor.  The issue was simply 

that I was providing the additional elements for the -- for 

all of the objects.  Originally, we realized we only 

provided the elements for the objects of the Foreign Corrupt 

Practices Act violations and not the money laundering and 

destruction of evidence.  So... 
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THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. ELMILADY:  They're charged with three different 

conspiracies.  

MR. KIHM:  Well, it's one conspiracy with multiple 

objects.  And we're satisfied, if Your Honor is, that the 

elements of 371 are sufficient to -- for these purposes, but 

we wanted to just make sure that you had everything. 

THE COURT:  Oh.  I see.  I didn't have it before, 

did I?  

All right.  I'm not reading all that.  

[Reading]  Oh.  You didn't have the money laundering and the 

destruction of evidence elements on here before, did you?  

MR. KIHM:  That's correct, Your Honor.  I apologize 

about the mistake. 

THE COURT:  Well, what's the difference between 

dd-1, dd-2 and dd-3?  

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, they're essentially the same 

crime, but the difference is jurisdictional.  So, dd-1 

covers companies that issue regulated securities in a stock 

exchange or their agents, Section 2 covers U.S. companies 

and U.S. persons, and Section 3 covers everyone else.  I 

didn't write the statute, Your Honor, but it's not a very 

well -- 

THE COURT:  They're charged with all three?  

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor.  They were acting on 
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behalf of multiple companies. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Specifically, Foreign 

Corrupt Practices Act in violation of 15, United States 

Code, Section dd-1, the elements of which are that you, as 

an issuer or an officer, director, employee or agent of the 

issuer or stockholder thereof acting on behalf of such an 

issuer or aided and abetted an issuer; second, that you 

acted corruptly and willfully; third, that you made use of 

the mails or any means of instrumentality of interstate 

commerce in furtherance of the unlawful act under the 

statute; fourth, that you offered, paid, promised or 

authorized the payment; fifth, that the offer or promise to 

pay or the authorization of the payment of money or anything 

of value was to a foreign official, while you knew that all 

or a portion of the payment would be offered or given or 

promised, directly or indirectly, to a foreign official; 

and, sixth, that you intended for one of the three purposes 

relevant to this action to influence any act or decision of 

a foreign public official, to induce a foreign official to 

do or admit to do an act of violation of a lawful duty and 

to secure any improper advantage; and, seventh, that the 

payment was to assist in the domestic -- assist a domestic 

concern in obtaining or retaining business for, with or 

directing business to any person.  

Under 15, USC, Section dd-2 [verbatim] of the 
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Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, that you, as a domestic 

concern or an officer, director or employee or a stockholder 

thereof, aided and abetted domestic concerns; that you acted 

corruptly and willfully; that you made use of the mails or 

any means of instrumentality of interstate commerce in 

furtherance of the act; that you offered, paid, promised to 

pay or authorized the payment of money or gift or anything 

of value; that the offer, promise to pay or authorization to 

pay money or anything of value was to a foreign official; 

the person -- that the defendant knew all or a portion of 

the payment would be offered, given or promised directly or 

indirectly to a foreign official; that the payment was 

intended for one of three purposes:  to influence any act or 

decision of the foreign public official, to induce a foreign 

public official to do or omit to do any act in violation of 

their lawful duty, to secure any improper advantage, and 

that the payment was to assist a domestic concern in 

obtaining or retaining business for or with or directing 

business to any person.  

Under Section 78dd-3 of Title 15 of the United 

States Code, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, that you, as 

a person as defined under the FCPA or an officer, director, 

employee or agent of a foreign entity who engaged in an act 

in furtherance of the corrupt payment or offer or promise to 

authorize to -- authorization to pay while in the territory 
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of the United States; that you acted corruptly and 

willfully; and that you offered to pay, promised to pay or 

authorized the payment of money or gift or anything of 

value; that you -- that the offer to pay or authorization of 

payment of money or anything of value was either to a 

foreign official or any person while the defendant knew that 

all or a portion of that payment would be offered, given or 

promised, directly or indirectly, to a foreign official; 

that the payment was intended for one of three purposes:  to 

influence any act or decision of a foreign public official 

in his or her official capacity, to induce such foreign 

official to do or omit to do any act or violation of the 

lawful duty of such foreign official or to secure any 

improper advantage, and that the payment was to assist the 

defendant in obtaining or retaining business for or with or 

directing business to any person.  

Money laundering, Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(A)(i):  that you knowingly 

conducted or attempted to conduct a financial transaction, 

that the financial transaction or attempted financial 

transaction involved the proceeds of specified unlawful 

activity -- namely, in this case a violation of the Foreign 

Corrupt Practices Act -- that you knew that the property 

involved in the financial transaction represented the 

proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, and that you 
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intended to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful 

activity.

Money lawyering under Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B), the elements of which are that 

you knowingly conducted or attempted to conduct a financial 

transaction, that the financial transaction or attempted 

financial transaction involved the proceeds of specified 

unlawful activity -- namely, a violation of the Foreign 

Corrupt Practices Act -- that you knew that the property 

involved in the financial transaction represented the 

proceeds of some form of lawful activity, and that you knew 

that the transaction was designed in whole or in part to 

conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership 

or control of the proceeds of the specified unlawful 

activity.  

Destruction of Evidence, 18, United States 

Code, Section 1519:  that you knowingly altered, destroyed, 

mutilated, concealed, covered up, falsified or made a false 

entry in a record, document or tangible object, that you 

acted with the intent to impede or destruct or influence the 

investigation of a matter and that the matter was in the 

jurisdiction of the United States Department of Justice, 

which is in the United States. 

Do you understand what the government is 

claiming that you have done to violate the law? 
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DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  And did you commit this crime?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Would the United States please make a 

representation concerning the facts that the government 

would be prepared to prove if this case were to proceed to 

trial. 

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor.  I have a summary 

prepared which I think would be a little faster than reading 

the factual basis. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead. 

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, if the government were to 

proceed to trial -- I am going to start with Mr. Cyrus 

Ahsani for the record. 

THE COURT:  Mr. -- Cyrus?  

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor, because I think -- his 

is earlier in time and it will make things go a little 

faster.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, if the Government were to 

proceed to trial against Defendant Cyrus Ahsani the 

Government would prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the 

Defendant, who is a United Kingdom -- citizen of the United 
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Kingdom and a citizen of Iran and, until July 2011, a 

citizen of the United States, become the CEO of Intermediary 

Company in or around 1994.  The Defendant was a domestic 

concern and a U.S. person under the Foreign Corrupt 

Practices Act, which I will refer to as "FCPA", until 2011 

and thereafter a person under the FCPA.  

Beginning by at least in or around 1999 and 

continuing until at least in or around 2016 the Defendant 

conspired with others, including, by 2005, his brother and 

others at Intermediary Company, Companies 1 through 25, some 

of which were based in Houston, Texas, in the Southern 

District of Texas, and which were issuers, domestic concerns 

and persons, as those terms are used in the FCPA, and also 

with certain executives at the companies and others to pay 

bribes -- to use the Intermediary Company to pay bribes to 

foreign government officials on behalf of Companies 1 

through 25 and Intermediary Company in order to direct 

business to Companies 1 through 25 and Intermediary Company, 

to launder the proceeds of the FCPA violations through 

international wire including from places outside the United 

States to and through places in the United States in order 

to promote and conceal the FCPA violations and to destroy 

evidence of those violations knowing such evidence related 

to a matter within the United States Department of Justice.  

In acting on behalf of Companies 1 through 25 
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the Defendant was an agent of an issuer and agent of a 

domestic concern and an agent of a person.  As the CEO of 

Intermediary Company the Defendant handled certain 

responsibilities, including personally negotiating bribe 

payments between executives and employees of Companies 1 

through 25 and others with foreign officials and their 

agents, overseeing Intermediary Company employees and 

executives who themselves negotiated bribe payments for 

foreign officials and their agents, directing others, 

including co-defendant, to launder the proceeds of bribe 

payments, falsifying and destroying records of the bribery 

and money laundering scheme to avoid detection by law 

enforcement and others. 

The Defendant and others undertook certain 

acts in furtherance of the conspiracy, including but not 

limited to:  

On or about March 30, 2005, the Defendant, 

while in Houston, Texas, in the Southern District of Texas, 

sent an e-mail through interstate and international wire to 

a co-conspirator in which the Defendant discussed a meeting 

in Houston, Texas, in the Southern District of Texas, with 

executives at Company 3 and Company 4.  In the e-mail the 

Defendant used a code name to refer to a foreign official 

who Defendant knew to be a bribe recipient. 

On or about August 25, 2010, the Defendant 
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caused Intermediary Company to enter into a consultancy 

agreement with a company controlled by a co-conspirator, 

which included paying the co-conspirator approximately   

$4.5 million for a project in Iraq.  The Defendant executed 

this contract believing that the co-conspirator would use 

portions of the $4.5 million to pay bribes to government 

officials in Iraq in order to obtain a project for    

Company 8.  

On or about January 3rd, 2012, the Defendant 

signed a commercial advisory agreement on behalf of 

Intermediary Company with two subsidiaries of Rolls-Royce 

who claim they're wholly owned by United States based 

subsidiary Rolls Royce Energy Systems, Inc.  The terms of 

the commercial advisory agreement appointed Intermediary 

Company to be Rolls-Royce Energy Systems Inc.'s commercial 

agent in Iraq for the purposes of marketing their products.  

The Defendant signed this agreement intending the 

Intermediary Company would pay bribes to Iraqi government 

officials in its attempts to obtain business on behalf of 

that subsidiary. 

In or around -- on or about October 25, 2012, 

the Defendant and others caused Intermediary Company to 

transfer approximately $70,000 from an Intermediary Company 

bank account in the United Arab Emirates through a 

correspondent bank account in the United States on to a bank 
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account of a shell company that a Company 2 executive had 

told the Defendant to pay in connection with a project in 

Algeria. 

In or around April, 2016, while knowing about 

the existence of an ongoing criminal investigation into the 

bribes that were paid by Intermediary Company, the Defendant 

and others destroyed electronic and paper records containing 

evidence of the bribery and money laundering schemes in 

order to conceal and evade detection by United States law 

enforcement and others.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  That was for Mr. Cyrus Ahsani.  

Is that correct?  

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  And for Mr. Saman Ahsani. 

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, if the Defendant were to 

proceed to trial the government would prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the Defendant, who is a citizen of the 

United Kingdom and Iran and a person as that's defined under 

the FCPA, joined the company in 2003.  In on around 2005 the 

Defendant became commercial director and Libya territory 

manager at Intermediary Company and then in 2011 became 

chief operations officer.  

In or around 2005 the Defendant became aware 

of the conspiracy and joined the conspiracy knowingly -- 

that is, the conspiracy that I previously referenced -- and 
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undertook certain acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.  In 

particular, the Defendant in his role as commercial director 

and Libya territory manager had certain responsibility over 

certain portions of the conspiracy, including overseeing 

Intermediary Company's business operations in Libya, 

including the facilitation of the payment of bribes to 

government officials in Libya on behalf of Company 10, 

Company 11, Company 12, Company 23 and Company 25 and 

others, structuring the payment of bribes to foreign 

officials in order to launder the proceeds of the corrupt 

bribery and kickback schemes in order to promote and conceal 

the ongoing schemes, including moving corrupt payments to 

multiple bank accounts owned and controlled by Intermediary 

Company's various subsidiary and affiliates companies, 

moving money through accounts located in multiple foreign 

countries and timing the payments to disguise their true 

nature, falsifying and destroying records of the bribery and 

money laundering schemes, including maintaining a second set 

of books for Company 7, and overseeing communications with a 

United States based Due Diligence Organization, which 

included providing the Due Diligence Organization with false 

information indicating Intermediary Company was not involved 

in the payment of bribes and providing Due Diligence 

Organization with business references who the Defendant 

believed knew or should have known about Intermediary 
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Company's bribe payments.

The Defendant and others undertook certain 

acts in furtherance of this conspiracy, including but not 

limited to the acts that I identified for Defendant Cyrus 

Ahsani.  

In addition, on or about August 17, 2005, the 

Defendant and others caused Intermediary Company to transfer 

approximately $136,500 from an Intermediary Company bank 

account in Switzerland to a bank account in the United 

States, believing at least a portion of these finds would be 

used to pay a bribe to a foreign official to help Company 7 

obtain and retain business in Kazakhstan.  

On or about May 4, 2006, the Defendant caused 

Intermediary Company to enter into an agency agreement with 

Company 10, which authorized Intermediary Company to assist 

in negotiating with the Libyan government in securing the 

award of a design and construction project in Libya. 

On or about January 18, 2011, the Defendant 

signed a sales consultant agreement on behalf of 

Intermediary Company agreeing to pay a co-conspirator 

approximately $16 million in order to obtain a project in 

Iraq for Company 8, intending that portions of such payments 

would be used to bribe government officials in Iraq. 

On or about August 18, 2011, while in the 

United States the Defendant and another co-conspirator spoke 
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by telephone to his brother, the co-defendant, concerning 

making a payment to a co-conspirator related to a project of 

Company 8. 

And on or about April 2016, while knowing 

about the existence of ongoing criminal investigations into 

the bribes that were paid by Intermediary Company, the 

Defendant destroyed electronic and paper records containing 

evidence of the bribery and money laundering schemes in 

order to conceal and evade detection by the United States 

law enforcement and others.  

And, Your Honor, these are both summaries of 

the factual bases that have been agreed to in their plea 

agreements. 

THE COURT:  So, are the other co-conspirators 1 

through 7 also indicted in this case or not?  

MR. KIHM:  Not yet, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  None of these companies are indicted 

either?  

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, there are two companies who 

are mentioned by name -- SBM and Rolls-Royce -- and they 

have entered into various corporate resolutions with the 

United States Department of Justice. 

THE COURT:  Various what?  

MR. KIHM:  Corporate resolutions.  So, with 

Rolls-Royce and SBM, they both entered, I believe, 
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parent-level deferred prosecution agreements.  And then SBM 

is a U.S. subsidiary that plead guilty here. 

THE COURT:  Well, what about all these other 25 

companies?  I know they're not all United States companies.

MR. KIHM:  That's correct, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:   

.  So, are they 

co-conspirators in this case to be indicted or not?  

MR. KIHM:   

 

. 

THE COURT:  Okay.    

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Ahsani -- Mr. Saman 

Ahsani, you have heard the facts that the government has 

indicated it would be prepared to prove against you if this 

case were to proceed to trial.  Having heard those facts, 

sir, how do you now plead to the charges pending against 

you?  Guilty or not guilty, sir?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Guilty, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Mr. Cyrus Ahsani, you have heard the 

facts that the government has indicated it would be prepared 

to prove against you if this case were to proceed to trial.  

Having heard those facts, sir, how do you now plead to the 

charges pending against you?  Guilty or not guilty, sir?  
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DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Guilty, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Are you now ready to sign the plea 

agreements under oath at this time?  

MR. KIHM:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  It should be right there.

(Plea agreements executed)

MR. KIHM:  Your Honor, we're passing the signed 

plea agreements. 

CASE MANAGER:  Please raise your right hand.  

Do each of you swear that you have read and 

understand the plea agreement and that you willingly sign 

the plea agreement at this time, so help you God?  

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Yes.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Yes, I do. 

THE COURT:  Then, it is the finding in this case in 

the United States of America v. Saman Ahsani and Cyrus 

Ahsani that the Defendants are each fully competent and 

capable of entering an informed plea, that the Defendants 

are aware of the nature of the charges and the consequences 

of their plea, that their pleas of guilty are knowing and 

voluntary pleas supported by an independent basis in fact 

containing each of the essential elements of the offense.  

Their pleas are, therefore, accepted and each of the 

defendants, Saman Ahsani and Cyrus Ahsani, are adjudged 

guilty of the offense charged in Count 1 of the indictment. 

Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 79-32 *SEALED*    Filed on 07/24/20 in TXSD   Page 32 of 36Case 4:19-cr-00147   Document 83-1   Filed on 07/28/20 in TXSD   Page 277 of 281



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

33

The Court orders that a presentence 

investigation report be prepared.  By September 3, 2019, the 

initial report shall be disclosed to counsel.  By   

September 17, 2019, counsel should object in writing or 

state that there is no objection.  By October 15, 2019, the 

probation officer should submit to the Court a final 

presentence report with an addendum addressing any contested 

issues.  Sentencing is set for October 21, 2019, at 9:30 

a.m. 

Ms. Talay, please let the probation department 

know today before you leave the building if you want to be 

present with your clients during their interviews. 

MS. TALAY:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  The Defendants have been on bond, one 

million dollars bond each, I think, $250,000 cash security 

for each of them.  

Does the United States have any objection to 

them remaining on bond pending sentencing in this case?  

MR. KIHM:  No, Your Honor.  We'd ask for the same 

conditions.  
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THE COURT:  Anything else from the United States?  

MR. KIHM:  No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Anything else from defense?  

MS. TALAY:  No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You're excused. 
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MR. KIHM:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MS. ELMILADY:  Thank you, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT SAMAN AHSANI:  Thank you, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT CYRUS AHSANI:  Thank you, Your Honor.  
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